## Creation of Bacterial Culture System on Paper by Application of Inkjet Printing

January 2015

Tithimanan SRIMONGKON

### Creation of Bacterial Culture System on Paper by Application of Inkjet Printing

A Dissertation Submitted to Graduate School of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Tsukuba in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Bioresource Engineering (Doctoral Program in Appropriate Technology and Sciences for

Sustainable Development)

Tithimanan SRIMONGKON

## Contents

Chapter 1	1
General introduction	
1.1 Bacterial culture system	1
1.1.1 Bacteria	1
1.1.2 Culture media	5
1.1.3 Cultivation method	8
1.2 Inkjet technology	11
1.2.1 Thermal inkjet	11
1.2.2 Piezoelectric	12
1.2.3 Ink cartridge	13
1.3 Paper	14
1.4 Application of paper and inkjet technology to bacterial culture system	15
1.5 Objective of this study	18
1.6 References	19
Chapter 2	24
Development of a bacterial culture system using a paper platform to	
accommodate media and an inkjet printer to dispense bacteria	
2.1 Abstract	24
2.2 Introduction	24
2.3 Material and methods	27
2.3.1 Preparation of the hydrophilic/hydrophobic pattern	27

2.3.2 Modification of agar	29
2.3.3 Bacterial culture on paper	30
2.3.4 Ejection of Escherichia coli on medium	31
2.3.5 Preparation of emulsified particulates	32
2.3.6 Confocal laser scanning microscopy	33
2.4 Results and discussion	34
2.4.1 Hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterning	34
2.4.2 Optimized modification of agar for inkjet printing	35
2.4.3 Ejection of <i>E. coli</i> on agar medium	37
2.4.4 Stability in Number of Ejected Particles	38
2.4.5 Fluorescence monitoring of E. coli growth and agar location	40
2.5 Conclusions	43
2.6 References	44
Chapter 3	47
Application of inkjet-printed poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel to	
bacterial culture media	
3.1 Abstract	47
3.2 Introduction	47
3.3 Material and methods	50
3.3.1 Preparation of PVA hydrogel ink	50
3.3.2 Ultraviolet (UV) absorption spectra of PVA hydrogel	51
3.3.3 X-ray diffraction of PVA hydrogel	52
3.3.4 Preparation of paper substrates	53

3.3.5 Modification of inkjet printer	53
3.3.6 Culture media printing	55
3.3.7 Bacterial culture	57
3.4 Results and discussion	58
3.4.1 Characteristics and optimization of the PVA hydrogel	58
3.4.2 UV absorption spectra and X-ray diffraction pattern of PVA hydrogel	60
3.4.3 Culture media printing	62
3.4.3 Confirmation of bacterial growth on PVA hydrogel medium	63
3.5 Conclusions	65
3.6 References	66
Chapter 4	69
Application of inkjet-printed Calcium alginate (CA) hydrogel	
to bacterial culture media	
4.1 Abstract	69
4.2 Introduction	69
4.3 Material and methods	72
4.3.1 Preparation of paper substrates	72
4.3.2 Preparation of CA hydrogel ink	72
4.3.3 Culture media printing	73
4.3.4 Bacterial culture	74
4.4 Results and discussion	75
4.4.1 Hydrophobic/hydrophilic patterning	75
4.4.2 CA hydrogel medium	75

4.4.3 Culture media printing	76
4.4.4 Bacterial growth on the PVA hydrogel and CA hydrogel	77
4.5 Conclusions	80
4.6 References	81
Chapter 5	84
Overall Conclusion	
Acknowledgement	87

### List of figures and tables

#### **Chapter 1. General introduction**

- Fig. 1.1 Difference of bacteria shape
- Fig. 1.2 Colony morphology of bacteria
- Fig. 1.3 Structure of bacteria
- Fig. 1.4 Oxygen conditions of bacteria
- Fig. 1.5 State of the gelation of agarose
- Fig 1.6 Transition of polymer chains after molecules of water diffusion
- Fig 1.7 Hydrogel network formation due to intermolecular H-bonding
- Fig 1.8 Illustration of chemical cross-linked hydrogel network
- Fig 1.9 Quadrant Streak Method
- Fig 1.10 The appearance of single colonies on agar plate by mean of streak plate technique
- Fig. 1.11 Serial dilution method
- Fig. 1.12 Thermal inkjet system
- Fig. 1.13 Piezoelectric system
- Fig. 1.14 Sample of paper surface: filter paper (left), pigment coated paper (right)
- Fig. 1.15 Bioassay system using inkjet printing and paper substrate

# Chapter 2. Development of a bacterial culture system using a paper platform to accommodate media and an inkjet printer to dispense bacteria

- Fig. 2.1 Image of bacterial culture system using a paper platform
- Fig. 2.2 Filter paper soaked in toluene solution of PS
- Fig. 2.3 Hydrophilicity test by dropping 2 µL of water on etched areas
- Fig. 2.4 Ink cartridge wrapped with film-type heater
- Fig. 2.5 Culture of air-floating bacteria on agarose medium in Petri dish
- Fig. 2.6 Serial dilution method (left) and diluted colonies on agarose plate (right)
- Fig. 2.7 Dimatix DMP-2831
- Fig. 2.8 Latex emulsions mixed with glycerol
- Fig. 2.9 One square pattern of  $11 \times 11$  dots
- Fig. 2.10 Hydrophobicity test of filter paper surface by dropping 2 µL of water
- Fig. 2.11 Blue toluene patterns overprinted twice with 3 head nozzles
- Fig. 2.12 Three phases of modified agar; (a) solid (gel), (b) paste, and (c) liquid
- Fig. 2.13 Viscosity of agar hydrolyzed at three different concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>
- Fig. 2.14 Colonies of bacteria growing on modified agar medium
- Fig. 2.15 Arrangement of cultured E. coli colonies after printing on a sheet of agar medium
- Fig. 2.16 The colonies of E. coli was observed by microscope
- Fig. 2.17 Latex particles in 1 dot observed by scanning electron microscope;
  (a) A pattern of 11 × 11 dots, (b) 1 time overprinting, (c) 3 times overprinting, and (d) 5 times overprinting
- Fig. 2.18 The sample of colonies of bacteria grew on agar media on paper
- Fig. 2.19 The overall paper structure consisting of fibers of the filter paper

- Fig. 2.20 The fluorescence images of agar medium (left) and toluene blue (right)
- Fig. 2.21 Combined image of agar medium on hydrophilic areas of filter paper as observed by CLSM
- Table 2.1 Print conditions of hydrophilic area
- Table 2.2 Number of latex particles observed in printed dots by SEM

# Chapter 3. Application of inkjet-printed poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel to bacterial culture media

- Fig. 3.1 Formation of a PVA hydrogel network based on intermolecular hydrogen bonding
- Fig. 3.2 Rheometer method
- Fig. 3.3 UV absorbance measurement method
- Fig. 3.4 XRD measurement method
- Fig. 3.5 Modified inkjet printer
- Fig. 3.6 Cartridge with a sponge removed
- Fig. 3.7 Medium printing by SCS printer sequence
- Fig 3.8 Amount of each solution determined by percentages of CMYK; cyan=NaCl, Magenta=Yeast extract, Yellow=Bacto trypton, Black (K)=PVA/ADH mixture
- Fig 3.9 Processing of MCS printer and procedure of medium printing
- Fig. 3.10 Force curves of the cylindrical plunger sensor in intruding PVA hydrogel over time down to 10 mm in depth
- Fig. 3.11 Ternary phase diagram of gel strength as a function of the ratios of the 3 components composing PVA hydrogel and ratios of gelation was observed in the shaded area
- Fig. 3.12 Viscosity of PVA solutions and gelation time of the PVA hydrogel at three concentrations of ADH formulated with a volume mixture ratio of 9:1 (PVA:ADH)
- Fig. 3.13 UV absorbance of ADH, PVA, and the PVA/ADH mixtures with increasing degrees of gelation at 1, 10, 15, and 20 min (full gelation)
- Fig. 3.14 Change of X-ray diffraction patterns of PVA/ADH mixture with time that elapsed since mixture
- Fig. 3.15 E. coli colonies growing on PVA hydrogel medium after 6 h

Table 3.1 Printability and accuracy of SCS and MCS printers

Table 3.2 Survival rate of E. coli on PVA hydrogel media after 24 h

#### Chapter 4. Application of inkjet-printed Alginate gel to bacterial culture media

- Fig. 4.1 Reaction of SA and CaCl<sub>2</sub>
- Fig. 4.2 Drops of water on hydrophobic filter paper
- Fig. 4.3 The example of pH value of a remaining solution test
- Fig. 4.4 Hydrophobic/hydrophilic patterning
- Fig. 4.5 Viscosity of SA solutions at various concentrations
- Fig. 4.6 CA hydrogel on hydrophilic areas hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterned paper
- Fig. 4.7 E. coli colonies growing on CA medium after 6 h
- Table 4.1 Printability, time required per sample and accuracy of SCS and MCS printers
- Table 4.2 Survival rate of E. coli on PVA and CA hydrogel media after 24 h

# Abbreviation

Abbreviation	Description
ADH	Adipic Acid Dihydrazide
СА	Calcium Alginate
CLSM	Confocal Laser Scanning Microscope
DOD	Drop On Demand
E. coli	Escherichia coli
GP	Glycoprotein
H-bonding	Hydrogen bonding
MCS	Multi Cartridge System
PEO-PAAc	Polyacrylic acid and polyethylene oxide
PS	Polystylene
PVA	Poly(vinyl alcohol)
PVAc	Poly(vinyl acetate)
SA	Sodium Alginate
SCS	Single Cartridge System
UV	Ultra Violet
XRD	X-ray diffraction

# Chapter 1 General introduction

#### **1.1 Bacterial culture system**

Bacteria are present everywhere such as in natural soils, deep in rocks, in all water bodies, in the atmosphere, and also inside other living organisms. On the one hand bacteria can be harmful causing diseases in living organisms, while others are useful and commercially important in industries such as pharmaceutical and food industries [1,2]. Both make the research on bacteria one of the most active areas in biology and biotechnology, to extensively study and analyze bacteria species, it is indispensable to isolate pure bacteria cultures. In this work, we are am going to introduce a novel methodology for culturing bacteria.

#### 1.1.1 Bacteria

Bacteria are single celled microbes which are found everywhere in nature. Bacteria can directly affect our health being the cause of many diseases (bacteria inflection) such as cholera, pneumonia, tetanus, leptospirosis, typhoid, appendicitis, gonorrhea, and etc. To effectively treat patients with bacterial infections, scientists have to classify the type and characteristic of the bacteria. The also play an important role in food and food production because bacteria are the main cause of rotten food (microbial spoilage) and food poisoning. Therefore, food preservation techniques are used to sterilize or control environmental condition to inhibit the growth of bacteria. On the other hand useful bacteria such as lactic acid bacteria are utilized for fermentation and waste water treatment.

Bacteria with 0.5-10 micron have different shapes as shown in Fig. 1.1. Bacteria are classified into 5 groups according to their basic shapes: spherical (cocci), rod (bacilli), spiral (spirilla), comma (vibrios) or corkscrew (spirochaetes). They can exist as single cells, in pairs, chains or clusters [3].



Fig. 1.1 Difference of bacteria shape [4].

Likewise, in case of bacterial growth on solid media as colonies, a colony is defined as a visible mass of microorganisms originating from a (single) mother cell, therefore a colony constitutes a clone of genetically identical bacteria. The number of cells within a colony can reach up to several billions. On a solid medium, shape, color, surface appearance, and size of colonies are often characteristic, and these visible features are used in the identification of particular bacterial strains as shown in Fig. 1.2 [5].



Fig. 1.2 Colony morphology of bacteria [6].

Bacteria reproduce by binary fission which is a division of one cell into two. The duration of cell division is called generation time. The generation time depends on the type of bacteria and the environment.

Bacteria are prokaryotes, lacking well-defined nuclei and membrane-bound organelles, and have chromosomes composed of a single closed DNA circle. Basically, all kinds of bacteria have the same general structure that consist of a cell wall, cell membrane, cytoplasm, single chromosome, and ribosomes. Some of them consist of capsules, glycocalyx, pili or fimbriae, mesosome, flagella, inclusion granule, and bacterial spore (Fig. 1.3).



Fig. 1.3 Structure of bacteria [7].

There are a lot of factors that affect to the growth of bacteria such as nutrition:

- 1) carbon source such as carbohydrate,
- 2) electron source,

- 3) nitrogen source such as amino acids, peptides, proteins,
- oxygen, sulfur and phosphorus source such as water, nucleic acid, nucleotide, phospholipids,
- 5) vitamin, and etc.,

oxygen: aerobic and anaerobic bacteria can be identified by growing them in test tubes of thioglycollate broth [8],

- 1) obligate aerobes need oxygen because they cannot ferment or respire anaerobically,
- 2) facultative anaerobes can grow with or without oxygen because they can metabolise energy aerobically or anaerobically,
- 3) aerotolerant organisms do not require oxygen as they metabolise energy anaerobically,
- 4) strict anaerobe or obligate anaerobes are poisoned by oxygen,
- microaerophiles need oxygen because they cannot ferment or respire anaerobically (Fig. 1.4),



Fig. 1.4 Oxygen conditions of bacteria [9].

temperature: temperature control for bacteria growth also depend on their type,

- 1) thermophilic bacteria grow under high temperature,
- 2) mesophilic bacteria grow under medium high temperature,
- 3) psychrophilic bacteria grow under low temperature,

moisture content, and water activity.

#### 1.1.2 Culture media

To culture bacteria, a nutrient media are required in a container, such as a Petri dish or test tube. There are several type of media such as solid or gel type, liquid or broth type. In this research, we applied the paper as the container and use gel type to culture the bacteria. There are three kinds of hydrogel that were used in the experiments: agarose gel, poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel, and calcium alginate (CA) hydrogel.

Hydrogels are hydrophilic polymer networks that absorb from 10% to 20% up to thousands times of their dry weight in water [10] as shown in Fig 1.6. There are mainly two components that are interaction with water, namely 'hydrophilic group' such as -OH, -COOH, -COOH<sub>2</sub>, -CONH<sub>2</sub>, -CONH<sub>-</sub>, and -SO<sub>3</sub>H and hydrophobic group such as -CH<sub>2</sub>-, and -CH<sub>3</sub> [11]. Hydrogels are formed by crosslinking polymer chains through physical, ionic, or covalent interactions [12].

Gelation refers to the linking of macromolecular chains together which initially leads to progressively larger branched yet soluble polymers depending on the structure and conformation of the starting material [13]. Continuation of the linking process results in increasing the size of the branched polymer with decreasing solubility. This is called the 'gel' or 'network'. The mechanical properties and viscoelasticity of hydrogels can be conveniently customized, making them highly suitable for a variety of biotechnological applications [14]. Because of the high water content of hydrogels [15], they are widely used for various pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. These include immunological assays [16], healing agents [17], and three-dimensional cell and tissue culture environments, in which hydrogels act as excellent mimics of the vivo state [13,18].

In this study, we used hydrogel which is formed by using crosslinking agent: physical crosslinking and chemical crosslinking. We expected that hydrogel can be a new choice for a culture media suitable for inkjet printer.



Fig. 1.6 Transition of polymer chains after molecules of water diffusion.

#### 1.1.2.1 Heating/cooling a polymer solution

Gelation of agarose is a heating/cooling physically crosslinked gel type. Gels are formed when cooling hot solutions of gelatine or carrageenan [14]. Therefore, gelation of agarose depends on the temperature and there are 3 states of gelation as shown in Fig. 1.5. An agarose is a polysaccharide polymer material, generally extracted from seaweed. Agarose is a linear polymer made up of the repeating unit of agarobiose, which is a disaccharide made up of D-galactose and 3,6-anhydro-L-galactopyranose [19].



Fig. 1.5 State of the gelation of agarose.

#### 1.1.2.2 H-bonding

Physical gels can be sub categorized as strong physical gels and weak gels. A strong physical gel has strong physical bonds between polymer chains and is effectively permanent at a given set of experimental conditions. Weak physical gels have reversible links formed from temporary associations between chains. These associations have finite lifetimes, breaking and reforming continuously. Figure 1.7 shows the physical bonds by hydrogen bonding (H-bonding) [14].



Fig. 1.7 Hydrogel network formation due to intermolecular H-bonding [14].

#### 1.1.2.3 Chemical crosslinking

Chemical gelation is formed by covalent bonds and always results in a strong gel. Figure 1.8 shows the chemical crosslinking structure.



Fig. 1.8 Illustration of chemical cross-linked hydrogel network [14].

#### **1.1.3 Cultivation method**

To culture bacteria, a nutrient medium is required as well as a Petri dish or test tube as a container. In preparation for nutrient media, an autoclave is always required for sterilization at high temperature and pressure. Then, bacterial cells are transferred to a medium plate on a clean bench. In the same way, an autoclave was used for disposing bacteria.

We used broth media to prepare the suspension for bacterial cells printing and gel media to culture printed bacterial cells on paper. In order to obtain purified bacterial cells, isolation is required. To isolate bacteria there are several methods such as streak plate technique, serial dilution technique, heat shock technique, differential plating technique, and selective plating technique [20]. In this experiment, the streak plate technique was used to isolate bacteria and the serial dilute technique was used to prepare the suspension.

#### 1.1.3.1 Streak plate technique

Streak plate technique is used to grow bacteria on a growth media surface such that individual bacterial colonies are isolated and sampled. Isolated colonies indicate a clone of cells, being derived from a single precursor cell. When the selected culture media is inoculated using a single isolated colony, the resulting culture grows from that selected single clone. To perform this procedure, the four ways or quadrant streak is mostly used [3,4] (Fig 1.9).



Fig. 1.9 Quadrant Streak Method [6].

The commonly used petri dishes are of hundred millimeter diameter. The gel surface of the plate should be dry without any moisture such as condensation drops. The source of inoculums can be clinical specimen, environmental swab, sedimented urine, broth or solid culture.

In the streaking procedure, a sterile loop or swab is used to obtain an uncontaminated microbial culture. The process is called "picking colonies" when it is done from an agar plate with isolated colonies and is transferred to a new agar or gelatin plate using a sterile loop or needle. The inoculating loop or needle is then streaked over an agar surface. On the initial region of the streak, many microorganisms are deposited resulting in confluent growth or the growth of culture over the entire surface of the streaked area. The loop is sterilized by heating the loop in the blue flame of the Bunsen burner, between streaking different sections, or zones and thus lesser microorganisms are deposited as the streaking progresses. The streaking process will dilute out the sample that was placed in the initial region of the agar surface [5]. Figure 1.10 shows the example of single colonies prepared by the streak plate technique.



Fig. 1.10 The appearance of single colonies on agar plate by meaning of streak plate technique.

#### 1.1.3.2 Serial dilution method

Serial dilution is a common technique used in many immunologic procedures. A small amount of serum or solute can be serially diluted by transferring aliquots to diluent. One of the most common series doubles the dilution factor with each transfer (1:2, 1:4, 1:8 ...). These dilutions can be done in microliter plates or test tubes depending on the volumes of sample and diluent used [24]. The dilution is given by

CFU/g = [(number of colonies/quantity plated) x dilution factor]/gram of sample.

Figure 1.11 shows protocol of serial dilution technique. The original inoculum was transferred in 9 ml of saline. Then 1 ml of diluted inoculum was transferred into new 9 ml of saline. The number of dilution will be continued depending on how much dilution factor require. The 0.1 ml of each diluted inoculum from each test tube was poured in agarose plate and incubate. After the colonies appeared on agarose plate, the number of colonies were counted to calculate dilution factor (CFU/g).



Fig. 1.11 Serial dilution method.

#### **1.2 Inkjet technology**

Inkjet printing is a type of computer printing that recreates a digital image by propelling droplets of ink onto paper, plastic, or other substrates. The rapid development of inkjet technology started in the late 1950s. Since then, many inkjet devices have been developed [25]. In this research, we used 2 types of inkjet printer: thermal inkjet, and piezoelectric.

#### 1.2.1 Thermal inkjet

In a thermal inkjet printer ink droplets are ejected from an orifice by the explosive formation of a vapor bubble within the ink supply due to the application of a two part electrical pulse to a resistor within the ink supply [26]. The electrical pulse comprises a precursor pulse and a nucleation pulse; the precursor pulse preheats the ink in the vicinity of the resistor to a

temperature below the boiling temperature of the ink to preheat the ink while avoiding vapor bubble nucleation within the ink supply and the subsequently occurring nucleation pulse very quickly heats the resistor to near the superheat limit of the ink (Fig. 1.12).



Fig. 1.12 Thermal inkjet system.

#### **1.2.2 Piezoelectric**

The driving force to eject a droplet with a piezo inkjet print head is generated by the actuator, which deforms the structure through the inverse piezo-electric effect (Fig 1.13).

The piezoelectric effect (electricity from an applied mechanical stress) was first discovered by Pierre and Jacques Curie in 1880. Their experimental demonstration consisted of a conclusive measurement of surface charges appearing on specially prepared crystals, which were subjected to mechanical stress. In 1881, Lippmann deduced mathematically the inverse piezoelectric effect (stress in response to an applied electric field) [27].

The piezoelectric actuator driven by the signal, optimized for the particular print head model, can precisely control the unrestrained ink meniscus vibration at the nozzle openings to achieve multi-sized droplets ejection in a sequent manner as well as stabilized droplet ejection up to the extremely high ejection repetition frequency [28].



Fig. 1.13 Piezoelectric system.

#### 1.2.3 Ink cartridge

Ink cartridge or inkjet cartridge is a component of an inkjet printer that contains the ink or fluid. Each ink cartridge contains one or more ink reservoirs. Also the number of head nozzle is different. Some of the inkjet printers are single cartridge system while others are multi-cartridge system.

#### 1.2.3.1 Single cartridge system (SCS)

The single cartridge system printers were developed for highly accurate printing in specialize application such as printed electronics and bio-printing. Several kinds of fluid can be loaded in the cartridge and ejected by controllable head nozzles. The high accuracy of overprinting position was controlled by means of a CCD camera. In addition, the volume and direction of each droplet was controlled by jet waveform which can be designed by the user.

#### 1.2.3.2 Multi-cartridges system (MCS)

The first commercial devices were introduced in 1951 by Siemens [29]. The MCS is well known as the third-party ink cartridges which can produce many color shades by mixing of the main colors (CMYK) depending on the percentage of each. Presently, more than 4 main colors were successfully installed in the inkjet printer to produce more color shades, to save ink and reduce the printing time. However, overprinting position control, small ink volumes, and individually head nozzle control are limited for the MCS printer used here.

In this research, the piezoelectric type SCS printer was used to dispense the suspension of bacteria while the thermal inkjet type MCS printer was used to dispense culture media.

#### 1.3 Paper

Paper is a highly-engineered product that is part of almost every aspect of our daily life: books, magazines, catalogs, newspapers, notebooks, food packaging, and cleaning products. Paper is a material produced by pressing together moist fibers, cellulose pulp derived from wood, rags or grasses, and drying them into flexible sheets [30]. There are a lot of different types of paper developed for many different kinds of products and applications. The type of paper is classified by both its physical and chemical properties such as thickness, weight, surface, roughness, and wettability.

Although being already highly sophisticate for its classical fields of application, novel technologies are presently developed including new nanocellulose and hemicellulose based materials, improved manufacturing processes, and harness the possibilities inherent in the chemistry of cellulose [31].

In this research, we introduce paper as effective media for culturing bacteria. We modified the filter paper with hydrophobic/hydrophilic techniques to become the container of bacteria culture media.



Fig. 1.14 Samples of paper surface: filter paper (left), pigment coated paper (right).

# **1.4** Application of paper and inkjet technology to bacterial culture system

Recently, various novel paper-based devices have been introduced. Paper is abundant available, inexpensive, and recyclable; it is easy to store, transport, manipulate, and dispose. Attempts have been made to fabricate paper-based medical sensors to analyze clinical body fluids and metabolic substances, such as blood [32], urea [33], and glucose [34]. A multiplex detection system for *Escherichia coli* was developed using an enzyme-based lab-on-paper test strip [32]. Furthermore, fabrication methods and design techniques of paper-based microfluidic channels using wax for portable bioassay were discussed [35].

Paper can be divided into multi-channels for liquid-transporting sensor tests by using a patterning technique to separate hydrophobic/hydrophilic areas. We would apply this useful technique to bacterial cultures under various conditions. Hydrophilic areas were built on a small

sheet of hydrophobized filter paper in order to accommodate dispensed media and bacteria. In addition, paper is a combustible substrate; therefore grown bacteria could be simply disposed by combustion. Thus, no autoclave is required in the disposal process.

There is another factor of inconvenience caused by manual operation. Bacterial cells are commonly transferred by manually in culture tests. The transferred volume cannot be constant or controllable. To solve the instability problem due to manual procedure, we proposed an inkjet as a dispensing method. To observed under the microscope, the growth of a rod-shaped cell like *E. coli* appears quite simple [36]. A freshly divided cell elongates with little or no increase in girth. Eventually a transverse wall is laid down near the center of the cell; when the cell reaches approximately twice its original size; it separates into two cells nearly equal in size. Therefore, *E. coli* cells transfer was tested as a model of bacterial cells by using inkjet technology. In particular, inkjet printing is often used as one of the measures for manufacturing electronics because of its advantages such as resource savings and non-contact processes attained by the drop on demand (DOD) system [37]. That is why inkjet technology is no longer only an office printing technology [38]; it has gradually become a versatile tool in various fields for accurately dispensing very small quantities of fluids on substrates, such as human organs or cells [39-43].

Therefore, inkjet technology is a promising technique for transferring bacterial cells in a small with stable and controlled volumes. In addition, ink-jet ejection is easily controlled using standard software that can print any designed patterns. Moreover a charge-coupled device camera, which is usually equipped with high-performance inkjet printers, can be used to examine the pattern dispensed on a substrate. Processing, such as hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterning, with an ink-jet printer is a time-saving, low-cost, and controllable technique providing a powerful alternative to manual operation.

Through this technology, one can minimize the hazard of accidental exposure to harmful or pathogenic bacteria while handling them. As shown in Fig 1.15 we proposed in reference [44] to create a bioassay system by applying an inkjet printer and paper.

16



Fig. 1.15 Bioassay system using inkjet printing and paper substrate [44].

#### **1.4 Objective of this study**

In this research, I attempt to present a new method to create a well-ordered and reproducible system for dispensing bacteria on a microscopic scale by using advantages of paper and inkjet technology. Also, to find the easy-to-use medium which can be printed by using inkjet printer.

#### **1.5 References**

- Kaláb, M., 2008. Microscopy and Higene. Infocus. Available from: <u>http://www.rms.org.uk/Resources/Royal%20Microscopical%20Society/infocus/Miloslav%</u> <u>20Kalab.pdf</u> (Accessed on October 28, 2013)
- Hossain, S.M., Ozimok, C. Sicard, C., Aguirre, S.D., Ali, M.M., Li, Y. and J.D. Brennan, 2012. Multiplexed paper test strip for quantitative bacterial detection. Analysis of Bioanalytical Chemistry, 403(6):1567-1576. doi: 10.1007/s00216-012-5975-x.
- Charles Darwin House, 2015. Microbiology. Available from: <u>http://www.microbiologyonline.org.uk/</u> (Accessed on July 17, 2015)
- 4. Bossard D.C., 2003. A FIT PLACE TO LIVE: CREATION OF THE BIOSPHERE. Interdisciplinary Biblical Research Institute Report, 51: 24.
- Jeanne S. P. and Edward R. L., 1986. BACTERIA IN NATURE Volume 2. Methods and Special Applications in Bacterial Ecology, Plenum Press, New York, pp: 14. ISBN: 0-306-42346-4.
- 6. Tóth E.M. and Márialigeti K., 2013. Pheno- and genotypic characterisation of bacterial strains, Practical Microbiology, Prescott., Arizona, pp: 127.
- Davidson M.W., 2009. Bacteria Cell Structure. Molecular Expression: Cell Biology and Microscopy, Structure and function of cell & Viruses, Available from: <u>http://micro.magnet.fsu.edu/cells/bacteriacell.html</u> (Accessed on July 17, 2015).
- Johnson M.E., and Lucey J.A., 2006. Major technological advances and trends in cheese, J Dairy Sci., 89 (4): 1174–8. doi:10.3168/jds.
- Pornchalermpong P. and Rattanapanondha N., 2010. Aerobic bacteria, Food Network Solution. Available from: <u>http://www.foodnetworksolution.com/wiki/word/1119/aerobic-bacteria</u> (Accessed on November 20, 2014).

- Drury, J. L., and Mooney, D. J., 2003. Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. Biomaterials, 24(24), 4337-4351. doi:10.1016/S0142-9612(03)00340-5.
- Koenig, M. F., and Huang, S. J., 1995. Biodegradable blends and composites of polycaprolactone and starch derivatives. Polymer, 36(9), 1877-1882. doi:10.1016/0032-3861(95)90934-T.
- Elisseeff, J., 2008. Hydrogel: Structure starts to gel, Nature materials, 7, 271-273. doi:10.1038/nmat2147.
- Ruiz J., Mantecón A., and Cádiz V., 2001. Synthesis and properties of hydrogels from poly (vinyl alcohol) and ethylenediaminetetraacetic dianhydride, Polymer, 42: 6347-6354. doi: 10.1016/S0032-3861(01)00082-9.
- 14. Gulrez S.K., Saphwan H.A., and Phillips G.O., 2011. Hydrogels: Methods of Preparation, Characterisation and Applications. In Progress in Molecular and Environmental Bioengineering – From Analysis and Modeling to Technology Applications, Angelo Carpi (Ed.), Intech, ISBN: 978-953-307-268-5. Available from: <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/progess-in-molecular-and-environmentalbioengineering-from-analysis-and-modeling-to-technology-application/hydrogels-methodsof-preparation-characterisation-and-applications (Accessed on December 15, 2014).</u>
- Doyan S., and Doyan A., 2009. Dose response and optical properties of dyed poly vinyl alcohol-trichloroacetic acid polymeric blends irradiated with gamma-rays, American Journal of Applied Sciences, 6 (12): 2071-2077. ISSN 1546-9239.
- Elizabeth F.R., Campos F.S., Lage A.P., Leite R.C., Heneine L.G., Vasconcelos W.L., Lobato Z.I.P., and Mansur H.S., 2006. Synthesis and Characterization of Poly(Vinyl Alcohol) hydrogels and Hybrids for rMPB70 Protein Adsorption, Materials Research, 9 (2): 185-191. ISSN 1516-1439.s.
- Yoew Y.K., Abbas Z., Khalid K., and Rahman M.Z.A., 2010. Improved dielectric model for polyvinyl alcohol-water hydrogel at microwave frequencies, American Journal of Applied Sciences, 7 (2): 270-276. doi : 10.3844/ajassp.2010.270.276.

- Hassan C.M., and Peppas N.A., 2000. Structure and applications of poly (vinyl alcohol) hydrogels, Advances in Polymer Science, 153: 37-65. doi: 10.1007/3-540-46414-X\_2.
- McHugh D.J., 2003. Agarose, A guide to the seaweed industry, FAO FISHERIES TECHNICAL PAPER 441. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/006/y4765e/y4765e06.htm</u> (Accessed on November 1, 2014).
- Chantarawattana A., 2002. Basic technique for microbe culture, Microbiology Laboratory Manual. Available from: <u>www.agro.kmutnb.ac.th/e-learning/521302/pdf/1.pdf</u> (Accessed on December 15, 2015).
- Schink B., 1995. Diversity, Ecology, and Isolation of Acetogenic Bacteria. In: ACETOGENESIS, Drake, H.L., (Ed), Chapman&Hall, New York, pp:197-235. ISBN: 0-412-03211-2.
- Finazzo S., Obenauf S., and Weber K.D., 2011. Microbiology Lab Manual. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp: 1-50. ISBN-10: 007804247X.
- 23. Harrigan, W.F., 1998. Laboratory Methods in Food Microbiology. Academic Press, California, pp:43-49. ISBN: 0-12-326043-4.
- Tortora G.J., Funke B.R., and Case C.L., 2009. Microbiology: An Introduction. 10<sup>th</sup> Ed. Benjamin-Cummings Publishing, San Francisco, pp: 269. ISBN-10: 0321582020.
- Herman W., 2010. The dynamics of the piezo inkjet print head operation. Physics Reports, 491(4-5): 77–177.
- 26. John L. V., 1984. Thermal inkjet printer. Patent: US4490728A. December 25 1984.
- 27. Herman W., 2008. Structure dynamics, Structure-and fluid-dynamics in piezo inkjet printheads, Gilde Print B.V., Venlo, pp: 19. ISBN 978-90-365-2582-4.
- 28. Sakai S., 2000. Dynamics of piezoelectric inkjet printing systems. NIP & Digital Fabrication Conference. Society for Imaging Science and Technology, 2000 (1): 15-20.

- Flynn W.J., 2006. Mechanical and Electronic Impression Examinations and Comparisons, Scientific Examination of Questioned Documents. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. by Jan S.K, and Lindblom B.S., CRC Press, Florida, pp: 204. ISBN: 0-8493-2044-5.
- Hogben L., 1951. Printing paper and playing cards, Book and Printing: A Treasure for Typophiles, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. by Benett P.A., Cleveland The world publishing company, New York, pp: 15-37.
- 31. TAPPI, Paper. Available from: <u>http://www.tappi.org/</u> (Accessed on March 9, 2015).
- Martinez A.W., Phillips S.T., Carrilho E., Thomas III S.W., Sindi H., and Whitesides G.M., 2008. Simple telemedicine for developing regions: camera phones and paper-based microfluidic devices for real-time, off-site diagnosis, Analytical Chemistry, 80(10): 3699-3707. doi: 10.1021/ac800112r.
- Abe K., Suzuki K., and Citterio D., 2008. Inkjet-printed microfluidic multianalyte chemical sensing paper, Analytical Chemistry, 80(18):6928-6934. doi: 10.1021/ac800604v.
- Ornatska M., Sharpe E., Andreescu D., and Andreescu S., 2001. Paper bioassay based on ceria nanoparticles as colorimetric probes, Analytical Chemistry, 83(11):4273-4280. doi: 1 0.1021/ac200697y.
- Lu Y., Shi W., Jiang L., Qin J., and Lin B., 2009. Rapid prototyping of paper-based microfluidics with wax for low-cost, portable bioassay, Electrophoresis, 30(9):1497-1500. doi: 10.1002/elps.200800563.
- John L. I., Ole M., and Frederick C. N., 1983. GROWTH of the Bacterial cell. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Massachusetts, pp.227. ISBN: 0-87893-352-2.
- 37. Singh M., Haverinen H. M., Dhagat P., and Jabbour G. E., 2010. Ink-jet printing-process and its applications, Advanced Materials, 22: 673-685. doi: 10.1002/adma.200901141.
- Mironov V., Visconti R.P., Kasyanov V., Forgacs G., Drake C.J., and Markwald R.R., 2009. Organ printing: tissue spheroids as building blocks, Biomaterials, 30(12):2164-2174. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.12.084.

- Guillemot F., Souquet A., Catros S., Guillotin B., Lopez J., Faucon M., Pippenger B., Bareille R., Rémy M., Bellance S., Chabassier P., Fricain J.C., and Amédée J., 2010. Highthroughput laser printing of cells and biomaterials for tissue engineering, Acta Biomaterialia, 6(7):2494-2500. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2009.09.029.
- 40. Xu T., Jin J., Gregory C., Hickman J.J. and Boland T., 2005. Inkjet printing of viable mammalian cells, Biomaterials, 26(1):93-99. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.04.011.
- Cui X., and Boland T., 2009. Human Microvasculature Fabrication Using Thermal Inkjet Printing Technology, Biomaterials, 30(31):6221-6227. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009. 07.056.
- Saunders R.E., Gough J.E., and Derby B., 2008. Delivery of human fibroblast cells by piezoelectric drop-on-demand inkjet printing, Biomaterials, 29(2):193-203. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.09.032.
- Xua T., Gregorya C.A., Molnara P., Cuia X., Jalotab S., Bhadurib S.B., and Boland T., 2006. Viability and electrophysiology of neural cell structures generated by the inkjet printing method, Biomaterials, 27(19):3580-3588. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.01.048.
- 44. Enomae T., and Srimongkon T., 2014. Bioassay system Created by using Printing and Paper, Journal of Printing Science and Technology, 51(1): 23-28.
# **Chapter 2**

# Development of a bacterial culture system using a paper platform to accommodate media and an inkjet printer to dispense bacteria

**2.1 Abstract** Generally, bacterial culture is performed manually and is subject to error. Here, we created a novel, well-ordered, and reliable system for dispensing bacteria microscopically by using paper and an inkjet printer for controlled patterning. For paper to accommodate a culture medium, hydrophobic/hydrophilic patterns were incorporated onto the paper by immersing paper in a toluene solution of polystyrene and drying for complete hydrophobization, followed by etching discrete, small areas of hydrophilicity by inkjet printing with toluene. Agar was hydrolyzed with sulfuric acid for appropriate viscosity and dispensed with an inkjet printer. In a separate experiment, bacterial cells were sequentially printed on a medium, and colonies were observed microscopically. The results of this experiment ensured the successful dispensing of bacteria using inkjet printing. An almost constant number of particles per droplet were ejected using polystyrene latex as a model of bacterial dispersion. Consequently, we expect this technology to be adapted for the development of a paper-based bioassay system.

# **2.2 Introduction**

Bacteria are present everywhere: in soils, deep in rocks, in all water bodies, and in the atmosphere, including on and inside other living organisms [1]. Several kinds of bacteria are commercially important in industries such as pharmaceutical and food industries [2]. However, some bacteria are harmful. To extensively research bacteria species, microbiologists isolate pure cultures and further analyze them. To culture bacteria, a nutrient medium is required in a

container, such as a Petri dish or test tube. If growth under different conditions is needed, several sets of containers are required. To culture bacteria, a nutrient medium is required as well as a Petri dish or test tube as a container. In preparation for nutrient media, an autoclave is always required for sterilization at so high a temperature and pressure that high electric power is consumed. Then, bacterial cells are transferred to a medium plate in a clean bench. In the same way, an autoclave was used again for disposing bacteria. In case of observation under different conditions, several sets of containers are additionally required. Therefore, we came with an idea to use paper that is easy to handle as a container instead of a Petri dish. The paper container would use ethylene oxide gas for sterilization and combustion for disposal.

Recently, various novel paper-based devices have been presented. Paper is ubiquitous, inexpensive, and recyclable; it is easy to store, transport, manipulate, and dispose. Attempts have been made to fabricate paper-based medical sensors to analyze clinical body fluids and metabolic substances, such as blood, urea [3, 4], and glucose [5]. A multiplex detection system of *Escherichia coli* was developed using an enzyme-based lab-on-paper test strip [3]. Furthermore, fabrication methods and design techniques of paper-based microfluidic channels using wax for portable bioassay were discussed [6]. Paper can be divided into multi-channels for liquid-transporting sensor tests by using a patterning technique to separate hydrophobic/hydrophilic areas. We considered that we would apply this useful technique to bacterial cultures under various conditions. Hydrophilic areas were tried to be built on a small sheet of hydrophobized filter paper in order to accommodate dispensed agar and then bacteria. In addition, paper is a combustible substrate, therefore grown bacteria could be simply disposed with the paper substrate after combustion. Thus, no autoclave is required in the disposal process.

There is another factor for inconvenience caused by manual operation. Bacterial cells are commonly transferred by manually in culture tests. The transferred volume cannot be constant or controllable. To solve the instability problem due to manual procedure, we proposed an inkjet dispensing method. However, [7] observed under the microscope, the growth of a rod-shaped cell like *E. coli* appears quite simple. A freshly divided cell elongates with little or no increase in girth. Eventually a transverse wall is laid down near the center of the cell; when the cell reaches approximately twice its original size; it separates into two cells nearly equal in size. Therefore, *E. coli* cells transfer was tested as a model of bacterial cells by using inkjet technology. Because

inkjet technology is no longer only an office printing technology [4]; it has gradually become a versatile tool in various fields for accurately dispensing very small quantities of fluids on substrates, such as human organs or cells [8-11]. Therefore, inkjet technology is a promising technique for transferring bacterial cells in a small, stable and controlled volume. In addition, inkjet ejection is controlled using software that can print any designed patterns, and a charge-coupled device camera, which is usually equipped with high-performance inkjet printers to examine the pattern dispensed on a substrate. Processing, such as hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterning, with an inkjet printer is a time-saving, low-cost, and controllable technique that is an alternative to manual operation. Through this technology, researchers can avoid harmful or pathogenic bacteria from directly touching them as a concomitant effect.

In this chapter, we present a new method to create a well-ordered and reproducible system for dispensing bacteria on a microscopic scale by using advantages of paper and inkjet technology. As shown in Fig. 2.1, we used paper as a media platform for bacterial culture and inkjet printing technology to dispense small amounts and for manageable patterning of bacterial suspension. Bacterial growth on a nutrient medium contained in a Petri dish is sometimes evaluated visually by positive/negative judgment followed by a statistical analysis [12], counting the number of colonies [13], color of colonies [14], and more semi-quantitatively, scores based on the number of quadrants in which growth was observed [15]. The system we are creating aims to quantify bacterial growth with a microscope and image analysis as the future work, which will be useful to routine laboratories using agar plates.



Fig. 2.1 Image of bacterial culture system using a paper platform.

# **2.3 Materials and methods**

### 2.3.1 Preparation of the Hydrophilic/Hydrophobic Pattern

We selected paper as a potential new substrate to facilitate efficient observation of bacterial growth under various conditions. Previous research [4] presented a method to modify paper to form hydrophobic and hydrophilic areas in the same substrate by using polystyrene (PS) and toluene. In the present study, we used PS to serve as a hydrophobic barrier to block spreading of the aqueous medium that was printed on hydrophilic areas. In addition, filter paper was chosen as a substrate to settle the medium because of its high absorbency. First, the filter paper was soaked in a 3.0 wt% toluene solution of PS for 1 h (Fig 2.2) and then allowed to dry at room temperature for 15 min, to allow the entire filter paper to become hydrophobic. Squares (10 mm × 10 mm) were etched to make hydrophilic areas by printing toluene with Solvent Blue 35 at 0.015 wt% (blue toluene) for visualization. All patterns were listed in table 2.1.

We found that with 3 head nozzles and overprinting the area twice for the best organized patterns with distinctive borders. Finally, hydrophilicity was tested by dropping 2  $\mu$ L of water on the etched areas, and the degree of penetration was observed and compared (Fig 2.3).

Pattern	Number of Head nozzle	Drop spacing (µm)	Overprinting (time)
1	3	70,50,20,10,5	1,2
2	5	70,50,20,10,5	1,2
3	9	70,50,20,10,5	1,2
4	10	70,50,20,10,5	1,2
5	16	70,50,20,10,5	1,2

Table 2.1 Print conditions of hydrophilic area



Fig. 2.2 Filter paper soaked in toluene solution of PS.



Fig. 2.3 Hydrophilicity test by dropping 2  $\mu$ L of water on etched areas.

#### 2.3.2 Modification of Agar

A common culture medium for bacteria is an agar medium that contains necessary nutrients. We attempted to print a nutrient agar medium by using the inkjet printer for dispensing small quantities of the medium on hydrophilic areas of the filter paper. However, the medium quickly solidified at room temperature, which is not conducive to printing. Therefore, we modified the molecular structure of agar by hydrolysis. Agar contains agarose as a major component, which is a linear polymer made up of the repeating unit of agarobiose a disaccharide made up of D-galactose and 3, 6-anhydro-L-galactopyranose. Glycosidic bonds between each agarobiose are easily hydrolyzed by acids, such as sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), that shorten polysaccharide chains. The optimum hydrolysis of agar was sought to generate agar polymers conducive to printing. First, 0.5 g of agar powder was dissolved in 20 mL of 0.05%, 0.1%, and 0.02% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> aqueous solutions, and then the solutions were heated at 100°C for 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 45, and 50 min. To stop the acid hydrolysis, the agar solutions were cooled on ice water for 5 min. Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) was added to neutralize the solutions for bacterial culture. Sodium sulfate (Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) produced during neutralization was removed by electrodialysis (Microacilyzer S1 with a membrane cartridge AC110-10, ASTOM, Japan). Viscosity of each hydrolyzed agar solution was measured by using a Cannon-Fenske Routine Viscometer. Finally, the hydrolyzed agar was mixed with yeast extract, Bacto tryptone, and sodium chloride (NaCl). The agar mixture was loaded into an ink cartridge wrapped with a filmtype heater (Fig. 2.4) and was printed on rectangular hydrophilic areas (5 mm x 5 mm). The drying speed of printed hydrolyzed agar was recorded to evaluate water retention.



Fig. 2.4 Ink cartridge wrapped with film-type heater.

# **2.3.3 Bacterial Culture on Paper**

Bacterial growth was examined by transferring a suspension of bacteria and comparing the growth on a normal agar plate and on hydrolyzed agar medium on paper. First, bacteria floating in the air were taken randomly (Fig 2.5) from stationary phase and isolated for pure culture by the streak technique. At least 3 repetitions of this technique were performed to confirm the purity of the bacteria and classify the morphology of the bacterial colonies. Serial dilution [18] was applied to reduce the concentration of the bacterial suspension (Fig 2.6). Finally, a bacterial suspension of 2.7 x  $10^7$  CFU/mL was transferred onto hydrolyzed agar to observe the bacterial growth.



Fig. 2.5 Culture of air-floating bacteria on agarose medium in Petri dish.



Fig. 2.6 Serial dilution method (left) and diluted colonies on agarose plate (right).

# 2.3.4 Ejection of Escherichia coli on Medium

*E. coli* cells were printed with a testing inkjet printer (Dimatix DMP-2831, Fujifilm, Japan) as shown in Fig. 2.7, with a piezoelectric actuator, on a standard culture medium to confirm bacterial cell applicability and viability. First, a 5-mm-thick square sheet of culture

medium was prepared and placed on the stage of the inkjet printer. Next, *E. coli* cells were loaded into a cartridge and printed following patterns designed using a specialized application. The pattern was considered to be a rectangle of  $5 \times 10$  dots arranged on a sheet at intervals of 5 mm. The printed *E. coli* cells were incubated at 37°C for 24 h, and the resultant colonies were examined.



Fig. 2.7 Dimatix DMP-2831.

### 2.3.5 Preparation of Emulsified Particulates

Polystyrene acrylate hollow latex particles with a diameter of about 1  $\mu$ m (latex particles; PAT8125; ZEON Corporation, Japan) were selected as a bacterial cell model to ensure the ability to print a constant number of particles. The stock latex emulsion, consisting of 26.5% solids, was diluted to 0.001% and then mixed with a small amount of glycerol to obtain an appropriate viscosity for inkjet printing (Fig. 2.8). Latex particles were subsequently printed on a sheet of photo-grade inkjet printing paper (Super photo grade; Kassai, Fujifilm, Japan) using an application to manage printing conditions such as printing frequency and number of droplets in 1 dot on the paper. A square pattern of  $11 \times 11$  dots was printed only once or overprinted 3 or 5 times on the paper (Fig. 2.9), and photographs of the printed dots were taken by a scanning electron microscope (S-4200, Hitachi, Japan) to count the number of latex particles.



Fig. 2.8 Latex emulsions mixed with glycerol.



Fig. 2.9 One square pattern of  $11 \times 11$  dots.

### 2.3.6 Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy

Automatic and selective monitoring of bacterial growth by a confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM 700; AxioObserver, Carl Zeiss Microscopy) was performed to develop this bioassay system. A dried piece of filter paper with a bacterial colony on the agar medium was subjected to fluorescence microscopic observation with an excitation wavelength (ex) of 555 nm (green) and an emission wavelength (em) ranging from 500–630 nm (blue to red) for the agar and ex of 639 nm (red) and em > 640 nm (red) for the hydrophilic area. CLSM was used to obtain a regular light transmission image showing the fiber network, and the composite image was created from the 3 images.

# 2.4 Results and discussion

# 2.4.1 Hydrophilic/Hydrophobic Patterning

After the filter paper was soaked in a toluene solution of PS and dried, hydrophobicity of the filter paper surface was tested by dropping 2  $\mu$ L of water on the whole surface, as shown in Fig. 2.10.

Hydrophobicity of areas etched by printing blue toluene on the hydrophobic filter paper was checked by dropping water again. Darker blue regions, with overprinting of blue toluene, demonstrated a higher hydrophilic property of faster water penetration. For optimum hydrophobic/hydrophilic patterning, a 40 min printing method including 3 head nozzles and overprinting twice was chosen (Fig. 2.11).



Fig. 2.10 Hydrophobicity test of filter paper surface by dropping 2  $\mu$ L of water.

0	
0	/
6	-

Fig. 2.11 Blue toluene patterns overprinted twice with 3 head nozzles.

### 2.4.2 Optimized Modification of Agar for Inkjet Printing

As shown in Fig. 2.12, hydrolyzed agars were classified into 3 groups, depending on the state of the material: gel, paste, and aqueous states. Agar powder dissolved in 0.05% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> aqueous solution and heated for 30 min attained an optimum hydrolysis level, which was a viscosity conducive to inkjet printing (Fig. 2.13). Additionally, a film-type wrapping heater was used to change the hydrolyzed agar from the paste to aqueous state. As a result, heating guaranteed smooth ejection of the hydrolyzed agar medium by maintaining the aqueous state and avoided clogging the nozzle heads. However, 50 µL aliquots of the hydrolyzed agar medium dried so quickly that the moisture content of the agar was maintained only for 16 h.



Fig. 2.12 Three phases of modified agar; (a) solid (gel), (b) paste, and (c) liquid.

To confirm the survival of bacterial cells on paper, the isolate originally from air-floating bacteria were transferred on the hydrolyzed agar medium manually. Bacterial colonies were observed after 10 h on a normal agar medium. However, colonies were not observed clearly on the hydrolyzed agar medium on plates or paper. Colonies that grew on the wet hydrolyzed agar medium on the plate were observed after 3 days, although colonies on paper had dried completely. Because we developed a culture system for bioassays that will be processed within a few hours, the drying time of 16 h is sufficient to maintain a suitably moist environment.



Fig. 2.13 Viscosity of agar hydrolyzed at three different concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.

To compare bacterial growth on normal and hydrolyzed agar media, we observed that each colony on normal agar medium grew separately and laterally, allowing clear observation (Fig. 2.14). However, on hydrolyzed agar medium, many overlapping colonies grew, and it was difficult to discern individual colonies. Overlapping likely occurred, because droplets of the hydrolyzed agar were printed on top of others, during overprinting, and in the paste state over and over again and the surface tends to be rough. Even if bacteria can grow and are observable on the hydrolyzed agar, quantitative evaluation cannot be expected.



Fig. 2.14 Colonies of bacteria growing on modified agar medium.

# 2.4.3 Ejection of E. coli on agar Medium

After a suspension of *E. coli* cells was printed, the normal agar medium sheet was immediately observed microscopically. Individual *E. coli* cells were not visible; however, mature *E. coli* colonies appeared as white spots after culture for approximately 30 h and were photographed (Fig. 2.15) and microscopic colony of *E. coli* (Fig. 2.16).



Fig. 2.15 Arrangement of cultured E. coli colonies after printing on a sheet of agar medium.



Fig. 2.16 The colony of *E. coli* was observed by microscope.

These results suggest that *E. coli* cells that were ejected through narrow nozzles were still viable, although they were subject to high shear stress in the nozzles. Previous reports discuss problems of low survival rates in such kinds of inkjet bio-dispensing systems [2,16]. However, the survival rate obtained using this system was satisfactory, considering that bacterial growth was observed for all printed dots. These results also suggest that this inkjet printing method is capable of dispensing fairly regular arrangements of *E. coli* cells, although some satellite colonies are visible next to the primary colonies in the photograph (Fig. 2.15). This deviation in the regular arrangement was due to droplet split, which occurred immediately as the droplets were released from the nozzle; deviation was solved by increasing viscosity and decrease surface tension by adding a small amount of glycerol to the bacterial solution.

### 2.4.4 Stability in Number of Ejected Particles

After we confirmed the ability to dispense viable bacterial cells by inkjet, we verified that the inkjet printer could dispense regular arrangements of non-ink liquid dots and eject consistent numbers per droplet of latex particles, a model for bacterial cells. The inkjet printer is designed to eject droplets with volumes of 1-10 pL. Although, the average diameter of the latex particles is approximately 1  $\mu$ m, and latex particles were expected to print smoothly, we sought to avoid clogging of the head nozzles or aggregation between particles. A small amount of glycerol was added to latex particles to increase the viscosity and decrease the surface tension [17]. Figure 2.9 shows printed dots of latex particles at certain intervals on photo-grade inkjet paper, which resulted in the formation of well-dispersed particles for easy counting and a potentially desirable inoculation level of bacterial cells. For the measurements, the number of primary particles with a diameter of approximately 1  $\mu$ m was counted, and coexisting particles much smaller in size were excluded from counting. We randomly selected 10 out of 121 dots for counting. The statistical data are listed in Table 2.2. Consequently, the average number of latex particles per droplet was consistently approximately 15, irrespective of the number of droplets per dot. This finding suggests that liquids containing bacterial cells can be dispensed evenly and regularly onto a culture medium. In addition, the circular shape of 1 dot evenly formed from 5 droplets (Fig. 2.17(c)), indicating that overprinting several times can be applied to adjust the number of cells per dot.

Number of	Number of particles				
droplets per dot	Mean number per dot	Mean number per droplet	Standard deviation	Confidence interval (95%)	
1	14.4	14.4	2.67	1.65	
3	44.0	14.7	5.14	3.18	
5	79.2	15.8	5.24	3.25	

**Table 2.2** Number of latex particles observed in printed dots by SEM.



Fig. 2.17 Latex particles in 1 dot observed by scanning electron microscope; (a) A pattern of 11 × 11 dots, (b) 1 time overprinting, (c) 3 times overprinting, and (d) 5 times overprinting.

# 2.4.5 Fluorescence Monitoring of E. coli Growth and Agar Location

Light transmission and fluorescence optical micrographs were captured by CLSM. The sample of colonies of bacteria which grew on agar media on paper (Fig. 2.18) was examined by CLSM. Figure 2.19 shows an overall paper structure consisting of fibers of the filter paper with a dark area. Figures 2.20 show fluorescence images of agar medium and toluene blue adsorbed by

fibers, respectively. It should be noted that the false-colors appearing in the images are not the same as those visible to the human eye. The combined image (Fig. 2.21) clearly indicates that the agar medium spread and settled within the hydrophilic area, and the dark area in Fig. 2.21 corresponds to the blue dye. Unfortunately, the bacterial colonies could not be distinguished by CLSM, because the auto-fluorescence of the bacteria was similar to that of the medium. However, CLSM is a promising technique to distinguish mixed components in the paper. This technique would be incorporated in the bioassay system as an automatic evaluation of bacterial growth.



Fig. 2.18 The sample of colonies of bacteria grew on agar media on paper.



Fig. 2.19 The overall paper structure consisting of fibers of the filter paper.



Fig. 2.20 The fluorescence images of agar medium (left) and toluene blue (right).



Fig. 2.21 Combined image of agar medium on hydrophilic areas of filter paper as observed by CLSM.

# **2.5 Conclusions**

The inkjet printer-assisted bioassay system we are currently developing in combination with a paper substrate is a promising technique to more efficiently evaluate bacterial growth rates. The hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterning provided a paper substrate suitable for accommodating an inkjet printed culture medium. Agar was hydrolyzed to adjust the viscosity, making it conducive to printing on paper and bacterial growth. CLSM was performed to detect the locations of the agar, blue dye, and fibers. The discrete locations on the paper substrate were discernible in the fluorescence images. In a separate experiment, *E. coli* cells were printed on a sheet of agar medium, and the growth of colonies with high survival rates were confirmed. We confirmed the regularity of the number of ejected cells in 1 droplet with latex particles as a cell suspension model. Finally, we developed inkjet assisted paper-based substrate as a part of a bioassay system.

# **2.6 References**

- Kaláb, M., 2008. Microscopy and Higene. Infocus. Available from: <u>http://www.rms.org.uk/Resources/Royal%20Microscopical%20Society/infocus/Miloslav%</u> <u>20Kalab.pdf</u> (Accessed on October 28, 2013)
- Hossain, S.M., Ozimok, C. Sicard, C., Aguirre, S.D., Ali, M.M., Li, Y. and J.D. Brennan, 2012. Multiplexed paper test strip for quantitative bacterial detection. Analysis of Bioanalytical Chemistry, 403(6):1567-1576. doi: 10.1007/s00216-012-5975-x.
- Martinez A.W., Phillips S.T., Carrilho E., Thomas III S.W., Sindi H., and Whitesides G.M., 2008. Simple telemedicine for developing regions: camera phones and paper-based microfluidic devices for real-time, off-site diagnosis, Analytical Chemistry, 80(10): 3699-3707. doi: 10.1021/ac800112r.
- 4. Abe K., Suzuki K., and Citterio D., 2008. Inkjet-printed microfluidic multianalyte chemical sensing paper, Analytical Chemistry, 80(18):6928-6934. doi: 10.1021/ac800604v.
- Ornatska M., Sharpe E., Andreescu D., and Andreescu S., 2001. Paper bioassay based on ceria nanoparticles as colorimetric probes, Analytical Chemistry, 83(11):4273-4280. doi: 1 0.1021/ac200697y.
- Lu Y., Shi W., Jiang L., Qin J., and Lin B., 2009. Rapid prototyping of paper-based microfluidics with wax for low-cost, portable bioassay, Electrophoresis, 30(9):1497-1500. doi: 10.1002/elps.200800563.
- John L. I., Ole M., and Frederick C. N., 1983. GROWTH of the Bacterial cell. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Massachusetts, pp.227. ISBN: 0-87893-352-2.
- Mironov V., Visconti R.P., Kasyanov V., Forgacs G., Drake C.J., and Markwald R.R., 2009. Organ printing: tissue spheroids as building blocks, Biomaterials, 30(12):2164-2174. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.12.084.
- Guillemot F., Souquet A., Catros S., Guillotin B., Lopez J., Faucon M., Pippenger B., Bareille R., Rémy M., Bellance S., Chabassier P., Fricain J.C., and Amédée J., 2010. High-

throughput laser printing of cells and biomaterials for tissue engineering, Acta Biomaterialia, 6(7):2494-2500. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2009.09.029.

- 10. Xu T., Jin J., Gregory C., Hickman J.J. and Boland T., 2005. Inkjet printing of viable mammalian cells, Biomaterials, 26(1):93-99. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.04.011.
- Cui X., and Boland T., 2009. Human Microvasculature Fabrication Using Thermal Inkjet Printing Technology, Biomaterials, 30(31):6221-6227. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009. 07.056.
- Overdevest I.T.M.A., Willemsen I., Elberts S., Verhulst C., and Kluytmans J.A.J.W., 2010. Laboratory detection of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing enterobacteriaceae: evaluation of two screening agar plates and two confirmation techniques, Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 49(2):519-522. doi:10.1128/JCM.01953-10.
- Tortoli E., Benedetti M., Fontanelli A. and Simonetti M.T., 2002. Evaluation of automated BACTEC MGIT 960 system for testing susceptibility of mycobacterium tuberculosis to four major antituberculous drugs: comparison with the radiometric bactec 460tb method and the agar plate method of proportion, Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 40(2): 607-610. doi: 10.1128/JCM.40.2.607-610.2002.
- Glupczynski Y., Berhin C., Bauraing C. and Bogaerts P, 2007. Evaluation of a new selective chromogenic agar medium for detection of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing enterobacteriaceae, Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 45(2): 501-505. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02221-06.
- Huang T. D., Bogaerts P., Berhin C., Guisset A. and Glupczynski Y., 2010. Evaluation of brilliance ESBL agar, a novel chromogenic medium for detection of extended-spectrumbeta- lactamase-producing enterobacteriaceae, Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 48(6): 2091-2096. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02342-09.
- Harrigan W.F., 1998. Laboratory Methods in Food Microbiology. Academic Press, California, pp:43-49. ISBN: 0-12-326043-4.

- Segur J.B., 1953. Physical properties of glycerol and its solutions. In: Glycerol, C.S. Miner, N.N. Dalton (Eds.), Reinhold, New York, pp: 238–334.
- Finazzo S., Obenauf S., and Weber K.D., 2011. Microbiology Lab Manual. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp: 1-50. ISBN-10: 007804247X.

# **Chapter 3**

# Application of inkjet-printed poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel to bacterial culture media

**3.1 Abstract** Inkjet printing and paper were applied for respectively dispensing and containing culture media and bacteria to create a comprehensive bacterial culture system. Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel was then applied as culture media because of its advantageous long storage life, ability to control the gelation time, and ability to expel via the inkjet head nozzles without clogging. PVA hydrogel was formed by physical crosslinking from a mixture of PVA and adipic acid dihydrazide (ADH) as a crosslinking agent. The gelling conditions depended on the concentrations of PVA and ADH, and the mixture ratio. We determined an optimum mixture ratio of 4.5:0.5:95 (PVA:ADH:H<sub>2</sub>O) for suitability of inkjet printing. A solution of a mixture PVA/ADH was successfully printed and allowed to gel by itself on paper. Finally, bacterial growth was confirmed on the hydrogel medium.

# **3.2 Introduction**

Inkjet printing systems, which are capable of outputting variable information from sheet to sheet, are currently applied for personal use and advanced commercial printing [1]. In particular, inkjet printing is often used as a means for manufacturing electronics because it provides advantages such as resource savings and noncontact processes carried out via the drop on demand (DOD) system [2]. Advanced printing applications are not limited to the field of electronics. Indeed, inkjet and laser printing technologies [3] have gradually become a versatile tool in a variety of other fields and have been used to accurately dispense very small quantities of fluids on substrates, such as human organs [4,5], cells [6], or bacteria [7].

The hazards caused by careless handling of pathogenic bacteria can be minimized by inkjet printing, as it is possible to dispense the minimum required amount of a bacterial suspension. In this study, SCS and MCS inkjet printer were used as a dispensing device in a comprehensive bacterial culture system. Thus, the system that we introduce here provides a low-cost, easy-to-use, efficient means for bacterial culture. In chapter 2, an inkjet printer was used to function as a dispensing device and clean bench. In addition, paper was used as a container for the culture media.

Conventionally, bacterial culture systems utilize agarose gels containing nutrients as the medium. Agarose is a galactan formed by linking approximately 500 agarobioses consisting of d-galactose and 3,6-anhydro-l-galactopyranose linked by  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) and  $\beta$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) glycosidic bonds [8]. In chapter 2, I utilized an inkjet printer to dispense both agarose medium and a bacterial suspension on a paper substrate, with the goal of creating stable patterns and dispensing accurate amounts of bacterial cells. However, agarose contains long chains of polysaccharides, which makes it unsuitable for smooth ejection from the head nozzles of the inkjet printer. Therefore, agarose was hydrolyzed by using sulfuric acid to reduce the degree of polymerization. After hydrolysis, the agarose became acidic and was thought to inhibit bacterial growth. To avoid this problem, the pH was adjusted to neutral using sodium hydroxide, and the hydrolyzed agarose was successfully ejected by the inkjet printer. However, the hydrolysis processes took a long time, and the viscosity adjustment required precise control. Therefore, here we introduce poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel as a suitable alternative for agarose. PVA combines the advantages of agarose with a higher compatibility for inkjet printing.

Hydrogels are formed by crosslinking polymer chains through physical, ionic, or covalent interactions and are well known for their ability to absorb water [9]. Moreover, the mechanical properties and viscoelasticity of hydrogels can be conveniently customized, making them highly suitable for a variety of biotechnological applications [10]. Because of the high water content of hydrogels [11], they are widely used for various pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. These include immunological assays [12], healing agents [13], and three-dimensional cell and tissue culture environments, in which hydrogels act as excellent mimics of the vivo state [14,15].

PVA is a polymer that can be used to form hydrogels. Moreover, PVA is capable of simulating natural tissue and is readily accepted by the human body [13]. PVA is generally made by dissolving another polymer, poly(vinyl acetate) (PVAc), in an alcohol such as methanol and treating it with an alkaline catalyst, such as sodium hydroxide (NaOH). The resulting hydrolysis reaction removes the acetate groups from the PVAc molecules without

disrupting their long chain structure [16]. However, the incomplete removal of the acetate group yields resins that are less soluble in water and more soluble in certain organic liquids. Therefore, PVA can be synthesized to have varying interactions with water.

Additionally, PVA can be cross-linked with many types of cross-linking agents. In this study, adipic acid dihydrazide (ADH) was mixed with PVA as a cross-linking agent to produce PVA hydrogels. The PVA hydrogel is classified as a reversible or physical gel. PVA hydrogel networks are held together by hydrogen bonding as shown in Fig. 3.1.



Fig. 3.1 Formation of a PVA hydrogel network based on intermolecular hydrogen bonding.

In physically cross-linked gels, dissolution is prevented by physical interactions between different polymer chains [17]. All such physical interactions are reversible and can be disrupted by changes in physical conditions or by application of stress [18]. We observed that PVA hydrogel reverted to a PVA/ADH mixture solution after several days under ambient conditions. The gelation behavior of a PVA hydrogel depends on the concentration of PVA, ADH and the ratio of PVA and ADH in the mixture, and the mixing intensity; all of these parameters are closely related to the ejection from an inkjet printer. PVA hydrogel is one opportunity of biomaterials which could be a promising new medium for developing a bacterial culture system coupled with an inkjet technology.

## **3.3 Materials and methods**

#### **3.3.1** Preparation of PVA hydrogel ink

First, PVA hydrogels were prepared by mixing PVA (Gohzenol Z-100, Nippon Gohsei, Japan) and ADH (Adipic acid dihydrazide, Nippon Kasei Chemical, Co., Ltd, Japan) solutions at several concentrations and a variety of different mixture ratios. The viscosities of the PVA solutions were then examined with a glass capillary viscometer (Cannon-Fenske type) in a water bath (Kinematic Viscosity Bath TV-5s, Japan) to evaluate the suitability of the hydrogel for inkjet printing. In practical printing, an ink cartridge is filled with a mixture of PVA and ADH before gelling. Next, an ADH solution was poured into a PVA solution, and the mixture was stirred for 5 min.

Because PVA hydrogel was formed by physical crosslinking that the gelation can be sub categorized as strong gels and weak gels [15]. The strong gels cannot be reversible or irreversible and weak gels can be reversible. We, therefore, defined the gelation of PVA hydrogel by gel strength (rigidity modulus). The gel strength was measured using a rheometer (CR-500DX, Sun Scientific Co., Ltd, Japan) under the following conditions: 60 mm/min intrusion velocity with a plunger having a pressure-sensing head of 10 mm in diameter and 10 mm in full depth (Fig 3.2). The force sensed by the sensing head was recorded over the full depth of 10 mm and the result was reported as the final force in N at 10 mm in depth and plotted on a ternary phase diagram. The rheometer was also used to characterize the gelation time [17] by measuring the gel strength every 5 min starting from the initial preparation of the mixture until a finite gel strength was observed. After determination of the mixture ratio suitable for gel formation (in terms of gel strength, as evaluated using the ternary phase diagram), the gelation times of the PVA/ADH mixtures were measured.



Fig. 3.2 Rheometer method.

### 3.3.2 Ultraviolet (UV) absorption spectra of PVA hydrogel

The PVA/ADH mixture in a ratio of 4.5:0.5:95 (PVA:ADH:H<sub>2</sub>O) was investigated by ultraviolet spectroscopy. The investigated wavelength range was from 200 nm to 300 nm with a step size of 20 nm using an ultraviolet spectrophotometer (UV-3100PC, Shimadzu Scientific Instruments, Japan) (Fig. 3.3.). The PVA/ADH mixture was measured immediately, 1 min, 10 min, 15 min, and 20 min after mixing to monitor the transitional condition of PVA hydrogel formation with time. And also the amounts of remaining free ADH in the PVA hydrogels was observed because ADH has been reported to inhibit the growth of microorganisms [9]. For comparison, we also measured the UV absorption spectrum of PVA solution and ADH solution (both at 0.05%).



Fig. 3.3 UV absorbance measurement method.

# 3.3.3 X-ray diffraction of PVA hydrogel

In additional, in order to observe the crystallization of PVA hydrogel, X-ray diffraction patterns of PVA/ADH mixtures were measured by an X-ray diffratometer (D8 ADVANCE, Bruker Corporation) each over a  $2\theta$  angle range from 10 to 50 degrees for 207 s. The X-ray generator sourced from the Cu-K $\alpha$  emission with a wavelength  $\lambda$  of 0.15408 nm was operated at 40 kV and 40 mA. A mixture of 9 mL of 10% PVA and 1 mL of 5% ADH were stirred with a glass rod for 30 s and 200 µL of the mixture was dispensed in a cavity 25 mm in diameter and 0.5 mm in depth of a silicon specimen holder (Fig. 3.4). When 3 min passed since the mixture, the first X-ray diffraction pattern started to be measured. Subsequent measurements were made in 8, 13, 18, 23, 28, and 33 min after the mixture. It was confirmed that the mixture completely became a gel in approximately 15 min after the mixture considering that the mixture was observed to completely lose fluidity and stick to the bottom without any deformation even when the small beaker containing the rest of the mixture was turned upside down. For comparison, pure water was also subjected to X-ray diffraction measurement.



Fig. 3.4 XRD measurement method.

## **3.3.4** Preparation of paper substrates

Because conventional filter paper is too water absorbent to hold a PVA/ADH mixture solution firmly, it was necessary to choose a more hydrophobic paper substrate. Recently, we introduced a method to modify paper to form hydrophobic and hydrophilic areas in the same substrate by using polystyrene (PS) and toluene [8]. In this experiment, the same procedure (see Chapter 2, 2.3.1) was used but the hydrophilic level of etched area was decreased by decreasing the overprinting time of blue toluene. The condition of printing was changed from twice to once over printing time.

### 3.3.5 Modification of inkjet printer

In chapter 2, we used SCS inkjet printer with heat wrap to control the temperature of modified agarose in the cartridge. However, we found that the gelation of PVA/ADH mixture did not depend on the temperature. Therefore, the SCS inkjet printer was used without heat wrap. In addition, the MCS inkjet printer was used also to compare the efficiency as dispensing method. Because the cartridge of SCS inkjet printer can provide only a small

amount of media so this is time consuming. We expected that the MCS inkjet printer which can provide more amount of fluid will be better method as culture media dispenser.

A modified inkjet printer (iP2000, Canon, Japan) was used in this experiment for printing PVA/ADH mixture solution. Continuous printing was required in order to obtain a culture medium with sufficient thickness. However, reloading a paper sample with the printed culture medium was not successful because the printed media was smeared by feeding through the rollers of the printer. Therefore, for continuous printing without reloading, the printer was modified by perforation. After both the upper and lower parts of the printer stage were perforated, a paper sample was set on the far left side of the printing area, and dummy paper was loaded onto the paper tray (Fig. 3.5). Then, the sponge in the ink cartridge was removed (Fig. 3.6), and the cartridge was washed with distilled water. To sterilize the cartridge for further use, the cartridge was sprayed with aqueous ethanol (70%).



Fig. 3.5 Modified inkjet printer.



Fig. 3.6 Cartridge with a sponge removed.

## 3.3.6 Culture media printing

We used 2 different kinds of inkjet printers as dispensing tools, namely a SCS (Dimatix DMP-2831, Fujifilm, Japan) and MCS (iP2000, Canon, Japan) Subsequently, the efficiency of the 2 systems was compared in terms of the compatibility with the hydrogel culture media and length of time required for one complete printing operation.

### 3.3.6.1 SCS printer

As the SCS printer allows to set only one cartridge, all solutions: PVA/ADH mixture and nutrient for bacterial culture (see Chapter 2, 2.3.2) were loaded into separate cartridges and printed one by one respectively. The methods for the SCS printer are shown in Fig. 3.7. The printing condition was 40 V in ejection voltage, 16 head nozzles in use, 50 µm in drop spacing, and at least 10 times overprinting.



Fig. 3.7 Medium printing by SCS printer sequence.

# 3.3.6.2 MCS printer

The modified inkjet printer was used (see Chapter 3, 3.4.5). To load hydrogel medium materials, the sponge in the ink cartridge was removed and the cartridge

was washed with distilled water. To sterilize the cartridge for subsequent bacterial culture tests, the cartridge was sprayed with aqueous ethanol (70%).

The MCS printer for color printing can be equipped with up to 4 different cartridges loaded with 4 different kinds of inks so that all solutions composing a PVA/ADH mixture could be printed at the same time. In addition, the ejected amount of each solution was controlled by specifying CMYK percentages as shown in Fig. 3.8. The photographs of the modified MCS printer are shown in Fig. 3.9.



Fig. 3.8 Amounts of each solution determined by percentages of CMYK; Cyan = NaCl, Magenta = Yeast extract, Yellow = Bacto trypton, Black(K) = PVA/ADH mixture.



Multi Cartridge System (MCS) Printer

Black cartridge for PVA/ADH mixture (sol)

Fig. 3.9 Processing of MCS printer and procedure of medium printing.

# 3.3.7 Bacterial culture

In Chapter 2, *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) was tested as an example of bacteria for the printability on a SCS printer (See Chapter 2, 2.4.3). It could be printed successfully and a high survival ratio was obtained. Therefore, in this work, firstly, bacteria were taken randomly from a stationery surface and isolated for pure culture by the streak plate technique. Secondly, the morphology of the bacterial colonies was classified (see Chapter 2, 2.3.3). The concentration of the bacterial suspension was diluted to  $2.7 \times 10^7$  colony-forming units (CFU)/mL using the serial dilution method. Then, 0.5 mL of the diluted bacteria was mixed with 1 mL of glycerol and loaded into a cartridge of the SCS printer. First, we printed 16 areas of PVA hydrogel on a sheet of hydrophobic/hydrophilic paper. Next, the bacterial suspension was determined by optical microscopy. The survival rate is defined as the proportion of the number of bacterial growth areas to the total number of areas. In the same way, the total number of areas.

# 3.4 Results and discussion

### 3.4.1 Characteristics and optimization of PVA hydrogel

Figure 3.10 shows 2 examples of the force curves used to determine the gel strengths of the hydrogels. The sensed force attained a maximum value at a depth of 10 mm for every curve. The gel strengths (maximum force values) are plotted in the ternary phase diagram as shown in Fig. 3.11 as a function of dry mass percentages of PVA and ADH, with water content in percentage of the mixture. The ratios of the three components comprising the gel were distributed as shown in the shaded area in Fig. 3.11. Some PVA/ADH mixtures gelled by themselves and had various gel strengths. No force (practically less than 1 N) was detected for the others (no hydrogel formation identified). The gel strength depended mainly on the dry mass percentages of PVA. However, when the concentration of ADH exceeds 0.75% dry mass, gelation was prevented for any ratio of PVA/ADH/H<sub>2</sub>O mixture. Also the percentage of PVA was reduced to less than 4.50%, hydrogel could not form. In contrast, 25% or more PVA produced hydrogel without the addition of a cross-linking agent and cannot be handled as an ink.



Fig 3.10 Force curves of the cylindrical plunger sensor in intruding PVA hydrogel over time down to 10 mm in depth.



Fig. 3.11 Ternary phase diagram of gel strength as a function of the ratios of the 3 components composing PVA hydrogel and ratios of gelation was observed in the shaded area.

Moreover, increasing the dry mass percentages of PVA also affected the gelation time, as shown in Fig. 3.12.

Practically, strong gel is more suitable for cultivation than weak gel. We found that the gel strength of PVA hydrogel in period of 31N-40N and 41N-50N were strong gel or irreversible gel. However, to identify the optimal concentrations of PVA and ADH suitable for inkjet printing, we examined all PVA/ADH mixtures in the shaded area in the ternary phase diagram with respect to their printing capabilities.

The mixture has to be chosen such that it gels as fast as possible on paper while also remaining stable in solution long enough to be stored in the printer cartridge during the preparation process. Consequently, we identified 4.5% dry mass PVA and 0.5% ADH as the best combination with respect to printability and quality of the printed patterns. Even if this condition provided the weak gel but it allowed to keep gel for at least 2 days before which
was long enough for the rapid bacterial culture system. It has to be noted that even at PVA dry mass percentages higher than 13.5%, the mixture gelled with an appropriate gelation time; however, the viscosity was too high for inkjet printing.



Fig. 3.12 Viscosity of PVA solutions and gelation time of the PVA hydrogel at three concentrations (PVA:ADH:H<sub>2</sub>O).

# **3.4.2 UV absorption spectra and X-ray diffraction pattern of PVA hydrogel**

Figure 3.13 shows the UV absorption spectra of the PVA solution, ADH solution, and PVA/ADH mixtures. Four spectra of the mixtures were measured at each stage of the transition from solution to full gelation for the identical sample. Some studies have shown that hydrogen bonding can affect UV absorption [19, 20]. In the UV spectra, a shoulder peak appeared for the PVA/ADH mixture around 240 nm and could be assigned to the hydrogel structure. The shoulder peak height continued to increase with time, suggesting continuous gelation. Between 15 min and 20 min in elapsed time, the difference in the spectra was slight. This behavior is likely to correspond to the approach to the complete gelation. Although the curve of the ADH solution exhibited much higher UV absorption in the shorter wavelength band than PVA at the same concentration, there was no clear peak for quantifying ADH independent of the hydrogel.



Fig. 3.13 UV absorbance of ADH, PVA, and the PVA/ADH mixtures with increasing degrees of gelation at 1, 10, 15, and 20 min (full gelation).

The change of the X-ray diffraction pattern of a PVA and ADH mixture with time is shown in Fig 3.14. All of the patterns were the same with that of pure water irrespective of elapsed time. It means that the PVA hydrogel does not have a specific crystal structure.



Fig. 3.14 Change of X-ray diffraction patterns of PVA/ADH mixture with time that elapsed since mixture.

#### **3.4.3 Culture media printing**

Media printing was tested by printing all solutions using both the SCS and MCS printers to evaluate the compatibility between the printers and solutions. The result in Table 3.1 shows that the maximum concentration which could be printed by the SCS printer is only 2.25% dry mass of PVA in PVA/ADH mixture. For the multi-cartridge MCS printer the range of printable mixture ratios is much wider. By means of the MCS printer we could successfully print 2.25%, 4.5%, and 9% dry mass of PVA in PVA/ADH mixtures. We found that the SCS printer was not suitable for PVA/ADH mixture printing. As described in the previous topic (see Chapter 3, 3.4.1), 4.5% dry mass PVA and 0.5% ADH with the MCS printer was identified as the best combination. It combines adequately low viscosity which ensures continuous ejection with no clogging and a relatively large amount of PVA per droplet for rapid gelling. Additionally, this mixture maintained stable in the solution state long enough to be stored in an ink cartridge.

Printability of solutions	SCS	MCS
PVA/ADH/H <sub>2</sub> O mixture		
2.25:0.5:97.25	✓	$\checkmark$
4.5:0.5:95	×	✓
9:0.5:90.5	×	✓
13.5:0.5:86	×	×
18:0.5:81.5	×	×
NaCl 0.05 g/L	✓	✓
Bacto trypton 0.1 g/L	✓	✓
Yeast extract 0.05 g/L	✓	✓
Accuracy error (%)	0.00	0.44

Table 3.1 Printability and accuracy of SCS and MCS printers

 $\checkmark$ : successfully printed  $\mathbf{X}$ : unable to eject

Using a camera installed near the head nozzles we found that the SCS printer has a high accuracy in positioning of the head nozzles which is important for overprinting the solution on the paper. However, the MCS printer is less time-consuming because all solutions are printed at the same time and, among others, the composition of all inks can be altered very easily by changing CMYK percentages from area to area on the same paper substrate.

#### 3.4.4 Confirmation of bacterial growth on PVA hydrogel medium

For PVA hydrogel medium the *E. coli* growth on the paper was confirmed 24 h after inoculation. The counted number of colonies is listed in Table 3.2. The low deviation suggests that liquids containing *E. coli* cells could be dispensed evenly and regularly onto a culture medium. Figure 3.15 shows growth of colonies 6 h after inoculation.

Table 3.2 Survival rate of *E. coli* on PVA hydrogel media after 24 h.

PVA hydrogel				
Number of areas measured	80			
Mean number of colonies per area	6.78			
95% Confidence intervals of number of colonies per area	0.27			
Survival rate (%)	67.1			
Contamination rate (%)	26.3			



Fig. 3.15 E. coli colonies growing on PVA hydrogel medium after 6 h.

The results showed that PVA could be printed by using SCS and MCS printers on paper. In addition, living *E. coli* cells could be printed and survived the printing process.

Both printing systems have their own advantages and can be used complementary depending on the desired application. The results showed that the SCS printer has higher accuracy in positioning of the printing location and dispensing stable amounts of inks. On the other hand, the MCS printer is less time-consuming and it is easier to achieve of various compositions of medium components by means of simple CMYK color adjustment. Summarizing, the system we developed in the present work provides a low-cost, easy-to-use, efficient means for bacterial culture. Essentially we modified an inkjet printer to function as a dispensing device and clean bench and paper was used as a container for the culture media.

#### **3.5 Conclusions**

In this study, we combined inkjet printing technology and paper to create an automated, simple bacterial culture system. PVA hydrogel, formed with physical crosslinking by mixing PVA and ADH aqueous solutions, was applied as a culture medium. This mixture exhibited a viscosity that was low enough for successful ejection by inkjet printing in the solution state. The mixture gradually gelled over time and became a rigid gel in about 20 min after mixing when the mixture ratio was 4.5:0.5:95 (PVA:ADH:H<sub>2</sub>O). This gelation time was appropriate for handling during the protocol for inkjet printing. Measurement of the UV spectrum of the PVA hydrogel showed a peak at approximately 240 nm that was not observed in that of PVA or ADH; this peak was therefore ascribed to the hydrogel structure. A PVA/ADH mixture in the solution state was loaded in an inkjet cartridge and successfully printed and gelled on paper. Finally, bacterial growth was confirmed on the PVA hydrogel medium. In summary, we showed that PVA hydrogels were an easy-to-use medium for inkjet printing.

#### **3.6. References**

- Enomae T., Dogome K., and Isogai A., 2012. Evaluation of absorption of micro-droplets on paper for creation of paper-based microstructures, Journal of Materials Science, 47 (8): 3554-3563. doi: 10.1007/s10853-011-6201-5.
- 2. Singh M., Haverinen H. M., Dhagat P., and Jabbour G. E., 2010. Ink-jet printing-process and its applications, Advanced Materials, 22: 673-685. doi: 10.1002/adma.200901141.
- Guillemot F., Souquet A., Catros S., Guillotin B., Lopez J., Faucon M., Pippenger B., Bareille R., Rémy M., Bellance S., Chabassier P., Fricain J.C., and Amédée J., 2010. High-throughput laser printing of cells and biomaterials for tissue engineering, Acta Biomaterialia, 6(7):2494-2500. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2009.09.029.
- Mironov V., Visconti R.P., Kasyanov V., Forgacs G., Drake C.J., and Markwald R.R., 2009. Organ printing: tissue spheroids as building blocks, Biomaterials, 30(12):2164-2174. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.12.084.
- 5. Xu T., Jin J., Gregory C., Hickman J.J. and Boland T., 2005. Inkjet printing of viable mammalian cells, Biomaterials, 26(1):93-99. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.04.011.
- Cui X., and Boland T., 2009. Human Microvasculature Fabrication Using Thermal Inkjet Printing Technology, Biomaterials, 30(31):6221-6227. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009. 07.056.
- Connell J.L., Ritschdorff E.T., Whiteley M., and Shear J.B., 2013. 3D printing of microscopic bacterial communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 110 (46): 18380-18385.
- McHugh D.J., 2003. Agarose, A guide to the seaweed industry, FAO FISHERIES TECHNICAL PAPER 441. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/006/y4765e/y4765e06.htm</u> (Accessed on November 1, 2014).
- Elisseeff, J., 2008. Hydrogel: Structure starts to gel, Nature materials, 7, 271-273. doi:10.1038/nmat2147.
- Gulrez S.K., Saphwan H.A., and Phillips G.O., 2011. Hydrogels: Methods of Preparation, Characterisation and Applications. In Progress in Molecular and Environmental

Bioengineering – From Analysis and Modeling to Technology Applications, Angelo Carpi (Ed.), Intech, ISBN: 978-953-307-268-5. Available from: <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/progess-in-molecular-and-environmental-</u> <u>bioengineering-from-analysis-and-modeling-to-technology-application/hydrogels-</u> <u>methods-of-preparation-characterisation-and-applications</u> (Accessed on December 15, 2014).

- Doyan S., and Doyan A., 2009. Dose response and optical properties of dyed poly vinyl alcohol-trichloroacetic acid polymeric blends irradiated with gamma-rays, American Journal of Applied Sciences, 6 (12): 2071-2077. ISSN 1546-9239.
- Elizabeth F.R., Campos F.S., Lage A.P., Leite R.C., Heneine L.G., Vasconcelos W.L., Lobato Z.I.P., and Mansur H.S., 2006. Synthesis and Characterization of Poly(Vinyl Alcohol) hydrogels and Hybrids for rMPB70 Protein Adsorption, Materials Research, 9 (2): 185-191. ISSN 1516-1439.s.
- Yoew Y.K., Abbas Z., Khalid K., and Rahman M.Z.A., 2010. Improved dielectric model for polyvinyl alcohol-water hydrogel at microwave frequencies, American Journal of Applied Sciences, 7 (2): 270-276. doi : 10.3844/ajassp.2010.270.276.
- Ruiz J., Mantecón A., and Cádiz V., 2001. Synthesis and properties of hydrogels from poly (vinyl alcohol) and ethylenediaminetetraacetic dianhydride, Polymer, 42: 6347-6354. doi: 10.1016/S0032-3861(01)00082-9.
- 15. Hassan C.M., and Peppas N.A., 2000. Structure and applications of poly (vinyl alcohol) hydrogels, Advances in Polymer Science, 153: 37-65. doi: 10.1007/3-540-46414-X\_2.
- 16. Encyclopaedia Britannica Inc., 2014. Polyvinyl Alcohol (PVA). Encyclopaedia Britannica Online Academic Edition. Available from: <u>http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/469236/polyvinyl-alcohol</u> (Accessed on December 15, 2014)
- Jones D.W., Sutow E.J. and Graham B.S., 1991. Gel strength and rate of gelation of soft polymers, Dental Materials, 7 (2): 138-144. doi: 10.101610109-5641(91)90061-3.
- Rosiak J.M. and Yoshii F., 1999. Hydrogels and their medical applications, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B, 151: 56-64. doi: 10.1016/S0168-583X(99)00118-4.

- Nagakura, S. and Gouterman M., 1957. Effect of Hydrogen Bonding on the Near Ultraviolet Absorption of Naphthol, Journal of Chemical Physics, 26 (4): 881-887. doi: 10.1063/1.1743428.
- 20. Magnes, B.Z., Pines D., Stashnikova N. and Pines E., 2004. Hydrogen-bonding interactions of photoacids: correlation of optical solvatochromism with IR absorption spectra, Solid State Ionics, 168: 225-233. doi: 10.1016/j.ssi.2003.02.001.

### **Chapter 4**

## Application of inkjet-printed Calcium alginate (CA) hydrogel to bacterial culture media

**4.1 Abstract** we attempted to create a stable system for dispensing bacteria microscopically by using inkjet technology on paper to improve the conventional bacterial culture system conducted by uncontrollable human operation. To use paper as a container supporting a culture medium, a hydrophobic/hydrophilic pattern was built by immersing it in a toluene solution of polystyrene for hydrophobic of the whole sheet and printing toluene for etching hydrophilic areas on the paper. Moreover, sodium alginate and calcium chloride solution were printed to form hydrogel as a culture media. Then, bacterial cells were subsequently printed on media on hydrophilic areas, and microscopically observed. The cells were observed to be stably arranged, and the subsequent growth of them was successfully achieved.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

Presently, inkjet technology is promises and challenges for applying to biology field because of its advantages such as resource savings and non-contact processes attained by the drop on demand (DOD) system [1]. Various kinds of research have been presented about printing technology that has gradually become a versatile tool for accurately dispensing very small quantities of fluids on substrates, such as bacterial communities [2], heterogeneous tissue construction [3], protein and cell printing [4], organ 3D printing design [5-7], tissue engineering development [8-9], cell molecular self-assembly [10], DNA [11-13], hybrid cell [14], even or membranes [15]. Also, in this research, inkjet printer was used as a dispensing machine for developing bacterial culture system.

Conventionally bacterial culture systems have done by using agarose gel as a container of nutrients. Agarose consists of many polysaccharide chains. In Chapter 2, an inkjet printer was applied to dispensing both of agarose media and bacterial suspensions on paper substrates aiming at stable patterns and accurate amounts of bacterial cells. In case of pathogenic bacteria, excess bacteria are considered as human-caused hazards but it probably was decreasing because inkjet printers could dispense tiny amounts of bacterial suspensions. However, agar solidifies on cooling; therefore, the temperature must be maintained at approximately 37°C in preparation for printing. This requisite was too severe for inkjet printing practices. Therefore, agarose was hydrolyzed by using sulfuric acid to reduce the degree of polymerization. After hydrolysis, the agarose became acidic and was considered to inhibit bacterial growth. To avoid this problem, the pH was adjusted to neutral using sodium hydroxide, and the hydrolyzed agarose was successfully ejected by the inkjet printer. However, the hydrolysis processes took a long time, and the viscosity adjustment required precise control. In Chapter 3, we applied PVA hydrogel as a culture medium and the result showed that PVA hydrogel could be used for bacterial culture and suit to inkjet printer. Here, we present another type of hydrogel called Calcium alginate (CA) hydrogel.

Polysaccharide-based hydrogels are useful for numerous applications, from food and cosmetic processing to drug delivery and tissue engineering. The formation of hydrogels from polyelectrolyte solutions is complex, involving a variety of molecular interactions. The physical gelation of polysaccharides can be achieved by balancing solvophobic and solvophilic interactions. Polymer chain reorganization can be obtained by solvent exchange, one of the processing routes forming a simple hydrogel assembly [16].

Alginic acid or alginate, which is an anionic polysaccharide consisting of homopolymeric blocks of  $\beta$ -D-mannuronate and  $\alpha$ -L-guluronate residues derived from cell walls of brown algae, forms a gel in the presence of calcium and dissolves to a solution upon addition of a calcium chelating agent [17].

Sodium alginate also is an anionic polysaccharide distributed widely in the cell walls of brown algae which is one of nature polyelectrolytes. Sodium alginate is used to gel in presence of calcium, as shear-thinning thickener in absence of calcium, to stabilize emulsions or foams and to form films [18].

Calcium ions as a crosslinking agent diffuse from a bulk solution into flocculated sodium alginate (SA) [17]. The hydrogel forms by chemical reaction, the calcium ions displace sodium ions from the alginate, holding the long alginate molecules together such that a gel formed (Fig. 4.1). Unlike agarose, the PVA/ADH mixture and the SA/Calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) components remain under ambient condition long enough in a solution state to be processed by printing. Several studies pointed out the benefits of sodium alginate to bacterial cells and tissue culture, such as increasing the survival of bacteria [19], enhancing the bacterial yield [20], and proliferation [21].

In this research, we used sodium alginate solution and calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) solution to produce gel by using inkjet printer for bacterial culturing on paper. Especially, a wide range of choice of culture medium would make this bacterial culture system more flexible and versatile.



Fig. 4.1 Reaction of SA and CaCl<sub>2</sub>.

#### 4.3 Materials and methods

#### **4.3.1** Preparation of paper substrates

The process of hydrophobic/hydrophilic paper fabrication was mentioned in Chapter 3, 3.3.4. Figure 4.2 shows the picture of water droplet on hydrophobic paper. The 2  $\mu$ L of water was dropped on hydrophobic paper to examine hydrophobic level.



Fig. 4.2 Drops of water on hydrophobic filter paper.

#### 4.3.2 Preparation of CA hydrogel ink

Usually, media are prepared by mixing a SA solution, 0.05% (w/w) of CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution, 0.05 g/L of yeast extract solution and 0.1 g/L of bacto tryptone solution in required ratios, where the unit g/L means a solute in g dissolved in 1 L of an aqueous solution. The ratio was controlled based on the amount ejected from each cartridge. However, the inkjet ejection performance is mainly determined by the ink viscosity [16]. In particular, SA solutions have higher viscosities than the other solutions and the viscosity dependents on the concentration. Therefore, the SA solutions at several concentrations (0.01%, 0.025%, 0.05%, and 0.1 % (w/w)) were prepared and their viscosities were measured with a glass capillary viscometer. The gelation of CA hydrogel was formed by an irreversible reaction. However, in order to provide CA hydrogel without

remaining initial substances, the ratio of SA and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solutions was examined by measuring pH values. In the experiment, the pH values of SA and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solutions were 8.0 and 7.0, respectively. After CA hydrogel was formed, the pH value of a remaining solution was examined (Fig 4.3). Then the ratio without remaining initial substances was adjusted.



Fig. 4.3 The example of pH value of a remaining solution test.

#### 4.3.3 Culture media printing

As mentioned in Chapter 3, We used 2 different kinds of inkjet printers as dispensing tools, namely a SCS (Dimatix DMP-2831, Fujifilm, Japan) and MCS (iP2000, Canon, Japan) Subsequently, the efficiency of the 2 systems was compared in terms of the compatibility with the hydrogel culture media and length of time required for one complete printing operation.

#### 4.3.3.1 SCS printer

Usually, the medium was prepared from mixture of SA solution,  $CaCl_2$  solution, yeast extract solution and bacto tryptone solution. However, the viscosity of sodium alginate solution was dependent on the concentration. Thus, SA solutions at several concentrations (0.1%, 0.25%, 0.5%, and 1.0 % (w/w)) were prepared for examining the optimum concentration for inkjet printer. Because the SCS printer allows setting only one cartridge, all solutions were loaded into each cartridge and printed one by one respectively. The methods for

the SCS printer are shown in Fig. 3.7 (see Chapter 3, 3.4.6.1). The printing condition was 40 V in ejection voltage, 16 head nozzles, 50 μm in drop spacing, and at least 10 times overprinting.

#### 4.3.3.2 MCS printer

SA solutions at several concentrations were prepared in the same way as for SCS printer. The modified MCS inkjet printer (see Chapter 3, 3.4.5) was used to print all solutions. Also the amount of each solution could be controlled by CMYK (Cyan = CaCl<sub>2</sub>, Magenta = Yeast extract, Yellow = Bacto trypton, Black(K) = SA solution) percentage.

#### **4.3.4 Bacterial culture**

Preparation of bacterial suspension was mentioned in Chapter 2, 2.3.3. After 0.5 mL of the diluted bacteria was mixed with 1 mL of glycerol and loaded into a cartridge of the SCS printer, we printed 16 areas of CA hydrogel on a sheet of hydrophobic/hydrophilic paper. Next, the bacterial suspension was printed on the top of the CA hydrogel media. In total, we prepared 5 sheets containing 16 areas of bacteria. After 24 h, the average number of grown colonies per area was determined by optical microscopy. The survival rate is defined as the proportion of the number of bacterial growth areas to the total number of areas. In the same way, the contamination rate was defined as the proportion of the number of areas to the total number of areas. In this chapter we compared the survival rate and contamination rate with PVA hydrogel.

#### 4.4 Results and discussion

#### 4.4.1 Hydrophilic/Hydrophobic Patterning

After hydrophobic/hydrophilic pattern was checked by dropping water, the results show that 20 min printing method including 3 head nozzles and overprinting once was chosen for optimum hydrophobic/hydrophilic patterning (Fig. 4.4).



Fig. 4.4 Hydrophobic/hydrophilic patterning.

#### 4.4.2 CA hydrogel medium

The viscosity of the sodium alginate solutions was examined for an optimum viscosity level for the printers. The determined dependence of the viscosity on the concentration is shown in Fig. 4.5.



Fig. 4.5 Viscosity of SA solutions at various concentrations.

#### 4.4.3 Culture media printing

Media printing was tested by printing all solutions using both the SCS and MCS printers to evaluate the compatibility between the printers and solutions. The result in table 4.1 shows that all components could be printed by SCS and MCS printers. High concentrations of SA solutions could not be printed by SCS. Considering the viscosities of PVA and SA solutions, SCS is likely to allow to print inks with viscosities of lower than 10 mPa·s. A 0.025% (w/v) of SA solution was chosen as the ink for loading. Other solutions for making CA hydrogel were found to be all printable. To adjust the mixture ratio of all the components to follow the standard CA medium composition such as a suitable mass ratio of 5:6 (SA:CaCl<sub>2</sub>), the ejection percentage of each color cartridge called CMYK for MCS was decided to be 50% of SA, 30% of CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 15% of Bacto trypton, and 5% of Yeast extract. The CA hydrogel media printed on a filter paper substrate is shown in Fig. 4.6.

Printability of solutions	SCS	MCS
SA 0.1%	$\checkmark$	✓
SA 0.25%	$\checkmark$	✓
SA 0.5%	×	✓
SA 1.0%	×	$\checkmark$
CaCl2 0.5%	$\checkmark$	√
Bacto trypton	$\checkmark$	~
Yeast extract	$\checkmark$	√
Time required per sample	SCS	MCS
Average (min)	120	40
Accuracy error (%)	0.00	0.44

Table 4.1 Printability, time required per sample and accuracy of SCS and MCS printers

 $\checkmark$ : successfully printed  $\thickapprox$ : unable to eject

Using a camera installed near the head nozzles we found that the SCS printer has a high accuracy in positioning of the head nozzles which is important for overprinting the solution on

the paper. However, the MCS printer is less time-consuming because all solutions are printed at the same time and, among others, the composition of all inks can be altered very easily by changing CMYK percentages from area to area on the same paper substrate.



Fig. 4.6. CA hydrogel on hydrophilic areas on hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterned paper.

#### 4.4.4 Bacterial growth on the PVA hydrogel and CA hydrogel media

For both PVA hydrogel medium and CA hydrogel medium the *E. coli* growth on the paper was confirmed 24 h after inoculation. The counted number of colonies is listed in Table 4.2. The average number (95% confidence intervals) of colonies per hydrophilic area was found to be comparable for both hydrogels, with a slightly higher number for PVA hydrogel. This low deviation suggests that liquids containing *E. coli* cells could be dispensed evenly and regularly onto a culture medium. *E. coli* cells on CA hydrogel media are shown in Fig. 4.7.

	PVA hydrogel	CA hydrogel
Number of areas measured	80	80
Mean number of colonies per area	6.78	5.73
95% Confidence intervals of number of colonies per area	0.27	0.22
Survival rate (%)	67.1	90.4
Contamination rate (%)	26.3	7.7

Table 4.2. Survival rate of E. coli on PVA and CA hydrogel media after 24 h

The results showed that PVA and CA hydrogels could be printed by using SCS and MCS printers on paper. In addition, living *E. coli* cells could be printed and survived the printing process. SA is a polysaccharide which is indigestible for most organisms so that microbial growth does not affect the gel used, meaning that CA hydrogel media maintain the stable quality [19]. The survival rate of the CA hydrogel was higher than that of the PVA hydrogel which exhibits an acidic pH [22,23]. In our experiment, the pH of the PVA hydrogel was 6.0 and for the CA hydrogel the pH was 7.0.



Fig. 4.7 E. coli colonies growing on CA medium after 6 h.

Both printing systems have their own advantages and can be used complementary depending on the desired application. The results showed that the SCS printer has higher accuracy in positioning of the printing location and dispensing stable amounts of inks. On the other hand, the MCS printer is less time-consuming and it is easier to achieve of various compositions of medium components by means of simple CMYK color adjustment. Summarizing, the system we developed in the present work provides a low-cost, easy-to-use, efficient means for bacterial culture. Essentially we modified an inkjet printer to function as a dispensing device and clean bench and paper was used as a container for the culture media. An actual productive unit based on the techniques developed can be realized as sketched in Fig. 1.6 (see Chapter 1, 1.4) which shows the possible schematics of a future system for efficient bioassay.

#### **4.5 Conclusions**

In this chapter, we combined inkjet printing and paper technologies for creating a prototype of an automated and simple to operate bacterial culture system. CA hydrogel, formed by chemical reaction between SA solution and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution. We used two different kind of printers, namely a single cartridge SCS printer and a multi-cartridge MCS printer to dispense the culture media and bacterial suspension. The SCS printer showed on the expense of processing speed a high accuracy in positioning of the printing location and provided an accurate overprinting. On the other hand, the MCS printer had a larger margin of accuracy error in the time sequence; however, it achieved fast printing at low cost simply by outputting CMYK values each based on the demanded amounts of a SA solution, CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution, and nutrients. In addition, the SCS printer allows a very accurate inoculation of the bacteria onto the medium using accurate overprinting. The CA hydrogel medium had a higher survival rate of bacteria and lower contamination rate compared to PVA hydrogel medium. In summary, we demonstrated that PVA hydrogel and CA hydrogel were an easy-to-use medium for inkjet printing.

#### **4.6 References**

- 1. Singh, M., Haverinen, H. M., Dhagat, P. and Jabbour, G. E., 2010. Ink-jet printing-process and its applications, Advanced Materials, 22: 673-685. doi: 10.1002/adma.200901141.
- Jodi L. C., Eric T. R., Marvin W. and Jason B. S., 2013. 3D printing of microscopic bacterial communities, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United Stated of America, 11(46): 18380-18385. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1309729110.
- Xu T., Weixin Z., Jian M.Z., Mohammad Z. A., James J.Y. and Anthony A., 2013. Complex heterogeneous tissue constructs containing multiple cell types prepared by inkjet printing technology, Biomaterials, 34(1): 130-139. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.09.035.
- Wilson C. Jr. and Boland T., 2003. Cell and organ printing 1: Protein and cell printers, The Anatomical Record Part A: Discoveries in Molecular, Cellular and Evolutionary biology, 272A(2): 491-496. doi: 10.1002/ar.a.10057.
- Sean V.M. and Anthony A., 2014. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs, Nature Biotechnology, 32: 773-785. doi:10.1038/nbt.2958.
- 6. Vladimir M., Vladimir K., Christopher D. and Roger R.M., 2014. Organ printing: promises and challenges, Regenerative Medicine, 3(1): 93-103. doi: 10.2217/17460751.3.1.93.
- SangJun M., Sye K.H., Young S., Feng X., Hassan O.K., Fahim M., Sohan M., Jong W.H., Jiro N., Edward H., Ali K. and Utkan D., 2010. Layer by Layer Three-dimensional Tissue Eplitaxy by cell-Laden Hydrogel Droplets, Tissue Engineering Part C: Methods, 16(1): 157-166. doi: 10.1089/ten.TEC.2009.0179.
- Scott J.H., 2005. Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering, Nature Materials, 4: 518-524. doi:10.1038/nmat1421.
- 9. Thomas B., Xu T., Brook D. and Cui X., 2006. Application of inkjet printing to tissue engineering, Biotechnology Journal, 1(9): 910-917. doi: 10.1002/biot.200600081.

- Shuguang Z., 2003. Fabrication of novel biomaterials through molecular self-assembly, Nature biotechnology, 21: 1171-1178. doi: 10.1038/nbt874.
- Barmak M. and Christopher L., 2002. A genomic view of alternative splicing, Nature Genetics, 30: 13-19. doi:10.1038/ng0102-13.
- Tadashi O., Tomohiro S. and Nobuko Y., 2000. Microarray fabrication with covalent attachment of DNA using Bubble Jet technology, Nature biotechnology, 18: 438-441. doi: 10.1038/74507.
- 13. Mingyue H., Oda S., Elizabeth A.P., Farid K., Olle E. and Michel J.T., 2008. Printing protein arrays from DNA arrays, Nature methods, 5: 175-177. doi:10.1038/nmeth.1178.
- 14. Brian D., 2008. Bioprinting: inkjet printing proteins and hybrid cell containing materials and structures, Journal of Materials Chemistry, 18: 5717-5712. doi: 10.1039/B807560C.
- Patrick C., David W. and Bogdan A., 2002. Applications of Ink-Jet Printing Technology to BioMEMS and Microfluidics Systems, Journal of Laboratory Automation, 7(5): 33-39. doi: 10.1016/S1535-5535(04)00214-X.
- Blandino A., Manuel M., and Cantero D., 1999. Formation of calcium alginate gel capsules: Influence of sodium alginate and CaCl<sub>2</sub> concentration on gelation kinetics, Journal of bioscience and bioengineering, 88(6): 686-689. doi: 10.1016/S1389-1723(00)87103-0.
- Lader S., David L. and Domard A., 2008. Multi-Membrane hydrogel, Nature International Weekly Journal of Science, 452: 76-79.
- Brian C., 2014. Sodium Alginate, Chemistryworld. Available from: <u>http://www.rsc.org/chemistryworld/2014/09/sodium-alginate-alginic-acid-spherification-podcast</u> (Access on December 28, 2014)
- Khalida S., Geogia G., Reynolds N., Arumugaswamy R., Peiris P. and Kaila K., 2000. Encapsulation of probiotic bacteria with alginate-starch and evaluation of survival in simulated gastrointestinal conditions and in yoghurt, International Journal of Food Microbiology, 62(1-2): 47-55. doi:10.1016/S0168-1605(00)00380-9.

- Zhou L.L., Sun D.P., Hu L.Y., Li Y.W. and Yang J.Z., 2007. Effect of addition of sodium alginate on bacterial cellulose production by Acetobacter xylinum, J. Ind. Microbiol Biotechnol, 34: 483-493. doi: 10.1007/s10295-007-0218-4.
- Wang L., Shelton R.M., Cooper P.R., Lawson M., Triffitt J.T. and Barralet J.E., 2003. Evaluation of sodium alginate for bone marrow cell tissue engineering, Biomaterials, 24(20): 3475–3481. doi:10.1016/S0142-9612(03)00167-4.
- 22. Elisseeff J., 2008. Hydrogel: structure starts to gel, Nature Materials, 7: 271-273. doi: 10.1038/nmat2147.
- 23. Gulrez S. K. H., Saphwan A. and Phillips G.O., 2011. Hydrogels: Methods of Preparation, Characterisation and Applications, In Progress in Molecular and Environmental Bioengineering – From Analysis and Modeling to Technology Applications, Angelo Carpi (Ed.), Intech, ISBN: 978-953-307-268-5. Available from: http://www.intechopen.com/books/progess-in-molecular-and-environmentalbioengineering-from-analysis-and-modeling-to-technology-application/hydrogels-methodsof-preparation-characterisation-and-applications (Accessed on December 15, 2014)

## Chapter 5

### **Overall Conclusion**

In this study, we present a new method to create a well-ordered and reproducible system for dispensing bacteria on a microscopic scale by using advantages of paper and inkjet technology. We used paper as a media platform for bacterial culture and inkjet printing technology to dispense small amounts and for manageable patterning of bacterial suspension.

In Chapter 2, we simulated bacterial culture system on hydrophilic/hydrophobic paper by using inkjet printer as a dispensing method.

The results are as follows:

- 1) The hydrophilic/hydrophobic patterning provided a paper substrate suitable for accommodating an inkjet-printed culture medium separately.
- Hydrolysis was applied to agarose to adjust the viscosity, making it conducive to printing on paper.
- 3) Bacterial growth on hydrolyzed agarose was confirmed.
- 4) In a separate experiment, *E. coli* cells were printed on a sheet of agarose medium and the growth of colonies with high survival rates were confirmed.
- 5) We confirmed the regularity of the number of ejected cells in 1 droplet with latex particles as a cell suspension model.

In Chapter 3, because the hydrolysis processes of agarose took a long time, and the viscosity adjustment required precise control. Therefore, here we introduce poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) hydrogel as a suitable alternative for agarose. PVA combines the advantages of agarose with a higher compatibility for inkjet printing.

The results are as follows:

- 1) The PVA hydrogel was applied to be a container of nutrient for bacterial culture.
- 2) PVA hydrogel, formed by physical crosslinking.
- The PVA/ADH mixture exhibited a viscosity that was low enough for successful ejection by inkjet printing in the solution state.
- 4) The mixture gradually gelled over time and became a rigid gel in about 20 min after mixing when the mixture ratio was 4.5:0.5:95 (PVA:ADH:H<sub>2</sub>O).
- 5) The gelation time about 20 min was appropriate for handling during the protocol for inkjet printing.
- 6) Measurement of the UV spectrum of the PVA hydrogel showed a peak at approximately 240 nm that was not observed in that of PVA or ADH; this peak was therefore ascribed to the hydrogel structure.
- Measurement of the XRD of PVA hydrogel showed that the PVA hydrogel does not have a specific crystal structure.
- A PVA/ADH mixture in the solution state was successfully printed and gelled on paper.
- 9) Bacterial growth was confirmed on the PVA hydrogel medium.

In Chapter 4, we used sodium alginate (SA) solution and calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) solution to produce Calcium alginate hydrogel and applied to bacterial culture media. SA solution and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution was successfully printed on paper. Especially, a wide range of choice of culture media would make this bacterial culture system more flexible and versatile.

The results are as follows:

- 1) SA and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solutions were used to be the initial substances to produce CA hydrogel which is formed by chemical crosslinking.
- 2) To adjust the mixture ratio of all the components to follow the standard CA medium composition such as a suitable mass ratio of 5:6 (SA:CaCl<sub>2</sub>), the ejection percentage

of each color cartridge called CMYK for MCS was decided to be 50% of SA, 30% of CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 15% of Bacto trypton, and 5% of Yeast extract.

- 3) SA and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solutions could be printed efficiently by inkjet printer.
- 4) Consequently, bacterial growth on alginate gel was confirmed.
- 5) Compared to the other two hydrogel systems, alginate gel was considered to be a promising choice for media printing because of an optimum adequacy in handling and printability.

The reported experiments in this thesis are the first step to develop an efficient bacterial culture system with stability and accuracy. For practical and industrial application, instrumentation with suitable inkjet head nozzles and a sterilization system, and laboratory testing with various bacteria would be required and create the novel bacterial culture system.

## Acknowledgement

This thesis is a compilation of studies carried out from 2012 April to 2015 September under the supervision of Professor Enomae Toshiharu at the University of Tsukuba. I would like to express my deepest respect and gratitude to Professor Enomae for his guidance, supports and continuous encouragement throughout this study.

I would like to thank Associate Professor Igarashi Kiyohiko and Mr. Ishida Takuya from the University of Tokyo, and Mr. Mandai Shusaku from Nippon Synthetic Chemical Industry Co., Ltd., Japan for collaborative work and gave me useful suggestions and advices about bacteria cultivation and poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), respectively.

I would like to thank to Ms. Yoko Saito of ZEON Corporation, Japan for providing the latex sample and Mr. Nobuhiro Hayami of Carl Zeiss Microscopy Co., Ltd., Japan for acquiring fluorescence images.

I would like to thank to my laboratory members for suggestions and encouragements.

Special thanks to Dr. Sirinnapa Saranwong, Dr. Kornkamon Nopmongkol for suggestions about microbiology and Dr. Marius Buerkle Ernst for careful review of this thesis and valuable suggestions and comments.

I would like to express my gratitude again to the all above-mentioned people.

This all studies were supported by JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B) No. 22380092 and Challenging Exploratory Research No. 23658138 from 2012 April to 2012 December and University of Tsukuba scholarship form 2014 April to 2015 March.

Last, I thank my family for their devoted support and encouragement.

Tithimanan Srimongkon